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 Complainant, State Bar of Nevada (“State Bar”), by and through its Assistant Bar 

Counsel, R. Kait Flocchini, is informed and believes as follows: 

1. Attorney Brent Harsh, Esq. (“Respondent”), Bar No. 8814, is currently an active 

member of the State Bar of Nevada and at all times pertinent to this complaint had his 

principal place of business for the practice of law located in Washoe County, Nevada.  

2. Respondent was retained to represent David and Sheela Clements (the 

“Clements”) to pursue their claims related to a November 5, 2020, vehicle-pedestrian accident.  

3. Sandra L. Sei (“Sei”) was the driver in the accident and David was the pedestrian.   

4. Sei was insured by The Hartford. 

5. Reed Werner is a Senior Staff Attorney with the Law Offices of Eric R. Larsen, 

Employees of a Subsidiary of The Hartford Financial Services Group. 

6. Werner was retained by The Hartford to represent Sei against the Clements’ 

claims. 

7. On November 16, 2020, Respondent sent a demand letter to one of The 

Hartford’s Claim Consultants, Katherine Baarson, seeking additional coverage for Sheela 

Clements’ claimed injuries related to the accident.  Respondent’s letter also requested that 

Baarson identify Sei’s personal counsel. 

8. Baarson did not respond to Respondent’s November 16 letter, and instead, 

forwarded it to Werner for consideration. 

9. Werner sent a letter to Respondent on December 18, 2020, identifying Sei as his 

client and requesting additional information and time to analyze the demand. 

10. Werner sent a letter to Sei identifying that his office had been retained to 

represent her in the dispute with the Clements. 
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11. On January 5, 2021, Respondent filed a Complaint in the Second Judicial District 

Court on behalf of the Clements and against Sei. 

12. Rule 4.2 of the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure (“NRCP”) provides that a 

Summons and Complaint be personally served on a defendant or a defendant’s authorized 

agent, such as counsel. 

13. Respondent served the Summons and Complaint personally on Sei. 

14. With the Summons and Complaint Respondent included a letter addressed 

directly to Sei  communicating that he would be seeking a judgment that was more than her 

insurance policy limits and recommending that she seek personal counsel.  Respondent 

provided the names of four lawyers in Reno who specialize in protecting parties whose 

interests might be adverse to their insurance carriers.  

15. Werner did not give Respondent consent to communicate directly with Sei.  Nor 

was Respondent authorized to do so by law or a court order. 

16. Respondent did not provide Werner, or The Hartford, with a copy of the 

Complaint, Summons, or letter to Sei, but he did ask Sei to contact The Hartford and forward 

them a copy of the Summons and Complaint. 

COUNT ONE- RPC 4.2 (Communication with Person Represented by Counsel) 

17. RPC 4.2 states  

In representing a client, a lawyer shall not communicate about the subject of the 
representation with a person the lawyer knows to be represented by another 
lawyer in the matter, unless the lawyer has the consent of the other lawyer or is 
authorized to do so by law or a court order. 

 
 
/// 
 
 
 
/// 
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18. In light of the foregoing, including without limitation paragraphs 2 through 16, 

Respondent has violated RPC 4.2 (Communication with Person Represented by Counsel).   

 

WHEREFORE, Complainant prays as follows: 

 1. That a hearing be held pursuant to Nevada Supreme Court Rule 105; 

 2. That Respondent be assessed the costs of the disciplinary proceeding pursuant 

to SCR 120; and 

3. That pursuant to SCR 102, such disciplinary action be taken by the Northern 

Nevada Disciplinary Board against Respondent as may be deemed appropriate under the 

circumstances. 

Dated this _______ day of June, 2021. 

STATE BAR OF NEVADA 
DANIEL M. HOOGE, Bar Counsel 

 
 

 

        By:  __________________________________ 
R. Kait Flocchini, Assistant Bar Counsel 
Nevada Bar No. 9861 
9456 Double R Boulevard 
Reno, Nevada 89521 
(775) 329-4100 

25th
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DECLARATION OF MAILING 

 
 Laura Peters, under penalty of perjury, being first and duly sworn, deposes and 

says as follows: 

1. That Declarant is employed as a paralegal for the State Bar of Nevada.  That in 

such capacity, Declarant is Custodian of Records for the Discipline Department of the 

State Bar of Nevada. 

2. That Declarant states that the enclosed documents are true and correct copies of 

the COMPLAINT, DESIGNATION OF HEARING PANEL MEMBERS and STATE BAR 

OF NEVADA’S PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES in the matter of the State Bar of Nevada 

v. Brent H. Harsh, Esq., Case No:  OBC21-0067. 

3. That pursuant to Supreme Court Rule 109, the Complaint, First Designation of 

Hearing Panel Members and State Bar’s Peremptory Challenges were served on the 

following by emailing a copy of same to:  

BRENT H. HARSH, Esq. 
c/o Christian L. Moore, Esq. 
clm@lge.net 
 
 DATED the 25th day of June, 2021. 
 
 
       ____________________________ 

Laura Peters, an employee of  
the State Bar of Nevada 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE BY MAIL  
 

 The undersigned hereby certifies that a true and correct copy of the foregoing Order 

Appointing Hearing Panel Chair was served electronically upon: 

Eric Stovall, Esq. - eric@ericstovalllaw.com 
Christian L. Moore, Esq. - clm@lge.net 
Kait Flocchini – kaitf@nvbar.org 
 
 

Dated this 15th day of July 2021. 

  

_____________________________
Laura Peters, an employee of  
the State Bar of Nevada 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE BY MAIL 

The undersigned hereby certifies that a true and correct copy of the foregoing State 

Bar’s Initial Disclosures of Documents and Witnesses was served electronically 

upon: 

Eric Stovall, Esq. - eric@ericstovalllaw.com 
Christian L. Moore, Esq. - clm@lge.net 
Kait Flocchini – kaitf@nvbar.org 

Dated this 22nd day of August 2021. 

_____________________________
Laura Peters, an employee of  
the State Bar of Nevada 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE BY MAIL  
 

 The undersigned hereby certifies that a true and correct copy of the foregoing Order 

Appointing Formal Hearing Panel was served electronically upon: 

Christian L. Moore, Esq. - clm@lge.net 
Kait Flocchini – kaitf@nvbar.org 
Eric Stovall, Esq. - eric@ericstovalllaw.com 
Lucas Folletta, Esq - lfoletta@mcdonaldcarano.com 
Mike LaBadie - Mlab12770@gmail.com  

 
Dated this 9th day of August 2021. 

  

_____________________________
Laura Peters, an employee of  
the State Bar of Nevada 
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ASSUME, because when you do you make an ASS out of U and ME.”  Assumptions are 

insufficient to support a conclusion as a matter of law. 

At best, the Motion’s arguments require weighing of evidence, which renders a request 

for summary judgment inapplicable. 

A. Undisputed Material Facts. 

1. Respondent represents David and Sheela Clements in 
their claims against Sandra Set related to a vehicle vs 
pedestrian accident. 
 

Motion at 2:11-12. 

2. Sei was insured by The Hartford at the time of the 
accident. 
 

Motion at 2:13-15. 

3. Respondent initiated an attempt to settle the Clements’ 
claims with The Hartford employee Katherine Baarson. 
 

Motion at 2:16-19. 

4. Reed Werner was retained by The Hartford to 
represent Sei in the matter with the Clements. 
 

Motion at Exhibit 6 

5. Werner was not asked to, and did not, provide an 
opinion to The Hartford on whether Sei would be covered 
for claims alleged by Sheela Clements. 
 

Letter from Reed Werner, 
dated March 1, 2021, SBN 93-
95, attached hereto as 
Exhibit A. 

6. On December 18, 2020, Werner sent a letter to Sei 
explaining that he had been retained to represent her 
against the Clement claims. 

Letter from Reed Werner, 
dated December 18, 2020, 
SBN 239- SBN 240, attached 
hereto as Exhibit B. 
 

7. On December 18, 2020, Werner sent Respondent a 
letter identifying Sei as his client.  Werner also emailed 
this letter to Respondent on December 21, 2020. 
 

Motion at Exhibit 5 and 
Exhibit  6. 

8. Werner requested information from Respondent to 
evaluate Sheela Clements’ alleged claim for damages. 
 

Id. 

9. In all email correspondence to Werner, Respondent 
included Baarson, the Hartford employee. 
 

Emails (SBN 201 – SBN 236), 
collectively attached as 
Exhibit C. 
 

10. None of Werner’s emails to Respondent stated that he 
was attempting to issue a coverage opinion in the 
Sei/Clements matter. 
 

Id. 
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10.  In the December 22, 2020 email exchange, Werner 
reiterated The Hartford’s offer to settle David Clements’ 
claim for policy limits of $100,000 and requested 
documentation to support a damages evaluation for 
Sheela Clements. 
 

SBN 208, in Exhibit C. 

11. Respondent rejected the settlement offer to David 
Clements and did not provide the requested 
documentation for Sheela Clements’ claims. 
 

Id. 

12. On December 22, 2020, Respondent filed a Complaint 
on behalf of the Clements and against Sei. 
 

Motion at Exhibit 7. 

13. On January 4, 2021, Respondent had Sei personally 
served with the Complaint, the Summons, and a letter 
addressed to her from Respondent. 
 

Motion at 4:4-10 
(referencing Exhibit 8 and 
Exhibit 9). 

14. No other counsel contacted Respondent on Sei’s 
behalf between December 22, 2020 and January 4, 2021. 
 

 

14. On January 7, 2021, Respondent emailed the 
Complaint and Summons to Werner and Baarson.  
Respondent did not include his letter to Sei in either 
email to Werner or Baarson. 
 

Emails with attachments 
(SBN222-236), in Exhibit C. 

15. On January 5, 2021, Sei faxed the Complaint, 
Summons, and letter to The Hartford.   

Fax Cover Page and 
attachments (SBN 2-14), 
attached hereto as Exhibit 
D. 

 

B.  Disputed Facts. 

Respondent’s impressions, presumptions and interpretations supersede Werner’s 

actual literal communication. 

C.  Immaterial Facts. 

Lemkul and Turtzo’s appearance as counsel of record for Sei when the Answer was filed 

on January 26, 2021 is irrelevant to this proceeding.  That appearance happened 24 days after 

Respondent sent the letter directly to Sei.  Sei’s testimony regarding whether she remembered 

Werner was her counsel sixteen months prior is also irrelevant to this proceeding. 
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D.  Applicable Legal Standard. 

Rule 56(a) of the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure provides that summary judgment may 

be granted if “the movant shows that there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and 

the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” 

A request for summary judgment is considered through the eye of a rational trier of fact.  

An issue cannot be summarily adjudicated if a rational trier of fact could return a verdict for 

the nonmoving party.  See Wood v. Safeway, Inc., 121 Nev. 724, 731-732, 121 P.3d 1026, 1031 

(2005).  Since the State Bar is the nonmoving party for this motion, that means that if a rational 

trier of fact, i.e. a panel member in this disciplinary matter, could find that Respondent’s direct 

letter to Sei violated RPC 4.2 then summary judgment cannot be granted. 

“The trial judge may not in granting summary judgment pass upon the credibility or 

weight of the opposing affidavits or evidence. That function is reserved for the trial.” Hidden 

Wells Ranch, Inc. v. Strip Realty, Inc., 83 Nev. 143, 425 P.2d 599, (Nev. 1967)); see also 

Borgerson v. Scanlon, 117 Nev. 216, 19 P.3d 236 (Nev. 2001) (affirming Hidden Wells Ranch, 

Inc. v. Strip Realty, Inc.).  Thus, if adjudication of the claims requires weighing evidence or 

opposing statements, then it cannot be decided outside of a hearing at which the triers of fact 

considers such evidence. 

The Motion for Summary Judgment requires weighing Werner’s actual statement that 

Sei was his client against Respondent’s impression of whether Werner should be representing 

Sei in the underlying matter.  This ‘weighing’ renders summary adjudication inappropriate. 

E.  A Reasonable Trier of Fact Could Find that Respondent Knew Werner 
Represented Sei When Harsh Hand-Delivered a Letter Directly to Sei. 

 
 
It is undisputed that Werner’s first attempted communication with Harsh, the 

December 18 letter, stated that Sei was his client.  Werner re-sent the December 18 letter via 
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e-mail.  It cannot be disputed that Werner never revoked this assertion of an attorney-client 

relationship.  It undisputed that Werner never stated to Respondent that he was engaging in a 

coverage analysis.  Based on these undisputed facts, a reasonable trier of fact could find that 

Respondent knew Sei was represented by Werner when he sent a letter, giving legal advice, 

directly to Sei on January 4, 2021, and therefore, violated RPC 4.2. 

F.  Respondent’s Assumptions are Insufficient to Support a Finding as a 
Matter of Law. 

 
 
Summary adjudication requires that every reasonable trier of fact look at a set of facts 

and be forced to conclude the same result.  The applicable law must be objectively applied to 

the facts.  The Motion for Summary Judgment relies on what Respondent assumed about 

Werner’s relationship with The Hartford and Sei.  Yet, Respondent’s assumptions are belied by 

Werner and his own conduct. 

The first argument is that Baarson’s statement that she would “check with our legal” and 

that Werner’s appearance in the matter shortly thereafter means he was the “legal.”  The 

Motion makes another leap in arguing it was reasonable for Respondent to then assume that 

Werner was representing only The Hartford’s interest via a coverage opinion.  See Motion at 

6:14-21.  This assumption is contradicted by (i) Werner’s statement in his initial 

correspondence to Respondent that his client was Sei, (ii) Respondent’s continued emails with 

Baarson after Werner appeared, and (iii) the lack of the term ‘coverage’ or ‘opinion’ in any of 

the email communication.  See Exhibit C.  If Respondent truly believed that Werner only 

represented The Hartford, then why would he continue to communicate directly with Baarson, 

an employee of The Hartford?  If Respondent must explain why these facts do not contradict 

his assumption then this matter cannot be summarily adjudicated.  Personal explanations 

means that a matter cannot be decided as a matter of law. 
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The second argument is that the tenor of Werner’s communications and Respondent 

“skipping over the subject hearing” in Werner’s December 18 letter led Respondent to assume 

Werner was not representing Sei.  See Motion 6:23-7:17.  In order to summarily adjudicate the 

claim against Respondent, Werner’s actual December 18 letter must be ignored.  This is not 

supported by the law.  Comment 9 to Model Rule 4.2 of the ABA Model Rules of Professional 

Conduct states “the lawyer cannot evade the requirement of obtaining the consent of counsel 

by closing eyes to the obvious.” 

Neither Baarson nor Werner told Respondent that Werner was analyzing whether there 

was ‘coverage’ for Sheela’s separate claim.  See generally, Exhibit C.  Werner’s communication 

with Respondent attempted to settle David’s claim and stated that he lacked sufficient 

information to evaluate Sheela’s claim.  See Email (SBN 208), Exhibit C.  Summary 

adjudication would require finding that, despite concrete evidence contradicting them, 

Respondent’s presumptions and interpretations are a reasonable basis to conclude that Sei was 

unrepresented on January 4, 2021.  This reasonableness is not a determination that can be 

made as a matter of law.  See e.g. Broussard v. Hill, 100 Nev. 325, 330, 682 P.2d 1376, 1379, 

(1984) (“The determination of whether that decision was reasonable depends on matters which 

should properly be determined by the finder of fact.”); see also Boyd v. McDonald, 81 Nev. 

642, 652, 408 P.2d 717, 723, (1965) (“the court must determine, as a question of fact, whether 

the McDonalds, as reasonable purchasers knowing their boundary lines, had a right to expect, 

without further inquiry, that their purchase insured continued use in the added driveway and 

the patio, though these were not on their land.”) 

In Broussard the Nevada Supreme Court stated that, like summary adjudication, a 

directed verdict could not stand if there was “conflicting evidence on a material issue, or if 

reasonable persons could draw different inferences from the facts, [because] the question is 
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one of fact for the jury and not one of law for the court.”  Broussard v. Hill, 100 Nev. at 327.  

The Court found that “reasonable men could differ as to whether [the defendant] breached his 

duty as an escrow agent to the detriment of [the plaintiff],” and thus, the case could not be 

decided as a matter of law.   

The Motion’s second argument also relies on the application of the Nevada Supreme 

Court’s Hansen decision regarding conflicts of interest preventing the representation of an 

insurer and an insured.  In Hansen, the Court found that when there is an actual conflict of 

interest, not just a potential conflict, the insurer must provide independent counsel of the 

insured’s choosing.  See State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co v. Hansen, 131 Nev. 743, 751, 357 P.3d 

338, 343 (2015).  This prong of the argument also assumes facts, to wit, ones that establish 

there was an actual conflict of interest that prohibited Werner from representing Sei.  

Respondent’s assumptions based on more assumptions are insufficient to support summary 

adjudication of the claim in this case. 

The Motion for Summary Judgment asks that Respondent’s inferences of the 

circumstances be found to be the only reasonable interpretation.  Just like in Broussard, this 

determination must go to the trier of fact and cannot be decided as a matter of law. 

/// 

 

/// 

 

/// 

 

/// 
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G.  Conclusion. 

 The Motion for Summary Judgment fails to show that no rational trier of fact could find 

that Respondent’s conduct violated RPC 4.2.  Based on the foregoing, the State Bar requests 

denial of the Motion. 

Dated this _______ day of August, 2021. 

STATE BAR OF NEVADA 
DANIEL M. HOOGE, Bar Counsel 
 
 

        By:  __________________________________ 
R. Kait Flocchini, Assistant Bar Counsel 
Nevada Bar No. 9861 
9456 Double R Boulevard, Suite B 
Reno, Nevada  89521 
(775) 329-4100 

23rd
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE BY MAIL  
 

 The undersigned hereby certifies that a true and correct copy of the foregoing State 

Bar of Nevada’s Opposition to Respondent’s Motion for Summary Judgment 

was served electronically upon: 

Christian L. Moore, Esq. - clm@lge.net 
Kait Flocchini – kaitf@nvbar.org 
Eric Stovall, Esq. - eric@ericstovalllaw.com 
 

Dated this 23rd day of August 2021. 

  

_____________________________
Laura Peters, an employee of  
the State Bar of Nevada 
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Law Offices of Eric R. Larsen 
Employees of a Subsidiary of The Hartford Financial Services Group, Inc. 

9275 W. Russell Rd., Ste. 205
Las Vegas, NV  89148 

Reed J. Werner, Esq.
Admitted in Nevada and California

OFFICE:
Telephone  (702) 387-8070 
Facsimile    (877) 369-5819

DIRECT DIAL:
Telephone  (702) 387-8080 
Reed.Werner@thehartford.com

Debra M. Watson, Legal Assistant 
Telephone  (702) 387-8092 

Debra.Watson@thehartford.com

March 1, 2021 
Via Email laurap@nvbar.org
Laura Peters
Office of Bar Counsel 
9456 Double R. Blvd., Suite B 
Reno, NV  89521 

RE: OBC21-0067 Brent Harsh

Dear Ms. Peters: 

I am in receipt of the letter from Christian Moore.  Please allow me to correct his 
misunderstandings and supposition which distort the reality of his client’s unethical 
behavior. 

Mr. Harsh’s client was in a bad accident and he wanted to maximize recovery for his 
clients.  He came up with a strategy to try to recover more than the $100,000 policy 
limits.  He told several different stories about how the accident occurred and the injuries 
suffered.  Naturally more questions came up in attempting to explore the claims being 
made.  A letter was mailed as well as emailed to Mr. Harsh.  The letter itself identified 
Ms. Sei as my client.  So on December 21 2020 before the lawsuit was filed Mr. Harsh 
knew that Ms. Sei was represented by counsel.  Despite this knowledge Mr. Harsh sent a 
letter to the client advising her that she should retain counsel to bring suit against her own 
insurance company and seeking to raise a question whether the insurance company had 
her best interest in mind.

Mr. Harsh points out that Ms. Sei is currently represented by a different law firm, Morris 
Sullivan & Lemkul, LLP.   In an abundance of caution, and because of the potential that
the case value exceeds the insurance policy limits the case was sent out to a different law 
firm.  This does not change the knowledge that Mr. Harsh had back in December 2020 
that Ms. Sei was represented by counsel.  Despite his clear knowledge of the same he still 
proceeded to contact the represented party by sending her a letter. 

Mr. Harsh then creates a circular argument that since there is a conflict of interest or a 
potential conflict of interest and insurance company cannot utilize the same counsel.
Despite the contention of Mr. Harsh and Mr. Moore, our office was never retained as 
coverage counsel and never offered a coverage opinion in this case.  Our office was 
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retained to assist in finalizing the settlement of claims against the insured, Ms. Sei.  A 
potential exposure above the policy after settlement discussions broke down is exactly 
this reason that I am not still representing Ms. Sei.  The comical part of Mr. Moore’s
letter is that Mr. Harsh for many years did the same sort of work and his name appeared 
on letterhead stating that he was an employee of Farmers Insurance Company and yet he 
represented individuals and had duties to those individual clients.  He claims in his letter 
no reasonable attorney could know that she was represented by counsel.  That statement 
is blatantly false since the letter he received from my office clearly indicated that Ms. Sei 
was my client.  What Mr. Moore meant to say, was no reasonable attorney would send a 
letter such as Mr. Harsh did knowing full well that the party was represented by counsel. 
If Mr. Harsh was unsure about the representation, the appropriate action would be to 
contact me and ask.  Instead he ignored the rules in an effort to gain an advantage in the 
litigation and sow seeds of doubt in the mind of the client.  The reason that the ethical 
rule exists barring attorneys from talking to opposing parties who are represented is to 
avoid situations such as this one were the attorney appears to be trying to assist the party, 
but does not have the person’s best interest in mind since he is representing someone 
adverse. 

Mr. Harsh potentially violated NRPC 1.7 because he was contacting a party who is 
directly adverse to his current client and providing legal advice to that client. 

Potentially he violated NRPC 1.18 as he appears to have been soliciting a new client on 
behalf of other lawyers.  He recommended several lawyers and provided their contact 
information.  He potentially violated Rule 1.5, to the extent he would be seeking a fee for 
referring the client to one of his friends. 

Mr. Harsh violated NRPC 4.1 in making a false representation that he did not know that 
Ms. Sei was represented by counsel when clearly the letter he received from me indicated 
the same. 

Mr. Harsh violated NRPC 4.2 by communicating with a party he knew was represented.  
Even if he was ignorant and did not read the letter he received from counsel, he did not 
make the client aware that his intentions in this matter were anything but altruistic.  He 
was attempting to manipulate the situation by speaking directly with a represented party.  
If counsel had contacted his client and made representations that perhaps counsel was not 
having the client’s best interest in mind, it would create an issue and surely Mr. Harsh 
and Mr. Moore can understand how problematic that would be.  Instead they attempt to 
disparage counsel and muddle a clear violation. 

Mr. Harsh perhaps thinks that his letter to Ms. Sei was an advertisement?  If so, it would 
violate 7.3.  As it was targeted and he has not prior relationship with the party. 

Section 8.4 is violated when a party violates the rules of professional conduct or seeks to 
gain an advantage in a litigation by violating the rules of professional conduct.  In this 
case Mr. Harsh was simply trying to pressure the insurance company to meet his 
demands of paying $200,000 on this case. Unfortunately, Mr. Harsh has forgotten that 
there are rules of professional conduct which prohibit direct contact of a represented 
party especially when that contact is made in an attempt to gain an advantage in 
litigation. 
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If this type of behavior is allowed in this State, it will be a detriment to the legal 
profession.  Please let me know if you want additional information emails, etc. in this 
case. 

Very truly yours,

Law Offices of ERIC R. LARSEN

/s/ Reed J. Werner
Reed J. Werner, Esq.
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Law Offices of Eric R. Larsen 
Employees of a Subsidiary of The Hartford Financial Services Group, Inc. 

MAILING ADDRESS: Reed J. Werner  Esq. 

Admitted in Nevada and California
STREET ADDRESS: 
9275 W. Russell Rd., Ste. 205 
Las Vegas, NV  89148 

Direct Dial:  (702) 387-8070 
Email: Reed.Werner@thehartford.com 

Office Telephone:  (702) 387-8070 
Office Facsimile:  (877) 369-5819 

December 1, 2020 

Sandra Sei 
85 Devere Way 
Sparks, NV  89431-2307 

Re: Clements, David v. Sei, Sandra 
Claim No.: Y51AL19182 
Policy No.: 55PHB326169  
Injury Date: 11/5/2020 
Insured:  Sandra Sei 

Dear Ms. Sei: 

The above-captioned matter has been referred to this office for investigation of the above-
referenced incident, which occurred on 11/5/2020.  No lawsuit has been filed in court at this time; 
however, we anticipate that a Complaint may be filed sometime in the near future. Our pre-suit 
investigation may include reviewing documents, retaining experts and conducting an on-site 
inspection. We are a staff legal office and employees of a Subsidiary of The Hartford Fire 
Insurance Company, an affiliate of your insurance company,  Hartford Insurance Company of the 
Midwest (“The Hartford”).  It is our goal to defend you against any Complaint, if one is filed, and 
a pre-suit investigation is critical to our ability to be able to do so. 

It is important that you contact me immediately if you are served with a Complaint so that 
I can determine whether appropriate service has been effectuated against your company. 
Additionally, upon receipt of a Complaint, you will need to immediately forward the papers to this 
office.  If private counsel currently represents your company, please have him/her contact me 
immediately.  I will be happy to cooperate with you or your company’s attorney in this regard. 

Your company’s cooperation is essential for conducting a timely investigation in to the 
cause and origin of the incident as well as the anticipated defense of this matter.  You or your 
witnesses may be called upon to assist in preparing for a potential trial and to testify at depositions. 
As such, we need the proper contact information for yourself as well as the contact information 
for any of the persons who may have knowledge of this incident giving rise to this claim and any 
potential lawsuit.  At this time, I ask that you fill out, sign, and immediately return to my attention 
the attached document to provide me with necessary information. 

Also, should you have any information or documents concerning this incident, such as 
correspondence, statements, computer data, reports, photographs, videotape or witness 
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information, please forward that information to me at your earliest convenience. 

In the event that your company relocates or you are no longer the authorized representative 
of your company, please advise me in writing of this change.  Please also indicate on the enclosed 
form whether you would like me to communicate with you via email as we will be informing you 
of significant developments in the ongoing investigation of this claim, and sending you copies of 
correspondence and pleadings that my office would prepare or receive concerning a potential 
lawsuit.  As you review the documents, please call me if you have any questions.  It is also 
important that you understand that documents are generally maintained by my office in electronic 
format.  It is our policy that any documents you sign or provide to us will be maintained in their 
original form through any appeal period applicable to any lawsuit at a minimum or returned to 
you.  If you require a copy of any document(s) related to this matter from us, please notify my 
office. 

Please be assured that you will be kept advised of the progress of the pre-suit investigation. 
To enhance our line of communication, my e-mail address, telephone number and regular mailing 
address are on page 1.  To preserve all attorney-client communications, I ask that you do two 
things.  First, ensure that any e-mail address you provide is secure from access by others.  Second, 
do not copy, forward, or show to any other individual any hard copy or electronic materials you 
receive from this office without first checking with me.  If anyone contacts you or your company 
to discuss the facts of this claim or any future Lawsuit, please refer them to me.   

We look forward to receiving the completed form back at your first opportunity and 
working with you toward a successful resolution of this claim. 

Very truly yours, 

/s/ Reed J. Werner 

Reed J. Werner 

RW/dmw 

cc:  Katherine Baarson, Y51AL19182-001
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From: Werner  Reed J (Claims Solutions and Analytics)
To: Kait Flocchini
Subject: FW: PA0018907997 FW: Clements, David [CONFIDENTIAL] (Encrypted Delivery)
Date: Tuesday, July 27, 2021 10:26:11 AM
Attachments: image001.png

From: Brent Harsh <brent@coulterharshlaw.com> 
Sent: Tuesday, December 22, 2020 11:42 AM
To: Werner, Reed J (Claims Solutions and Analytics) <Reed.Werner@thehartford.com>; Baarson, Kat (Liability Claims)
<Katherine.Baarson@thehartford.com>
Subject: RE: PA0018907997 FW: Clements, David [CONFIDENTIAL]

Reed and Kat,
Sheela will be in my office at noon, if either of you wanted to talk about the emotional trauma she has suffered from coming upon the
scene and thinking her husband died.

Feel free to call me on my cell 775-846-6900

From: Brent Harsh 
Sent: Tuesday, December 22, 2020 10:00 AM
To: Werner, Reed J (Claims Solutions and Analytics)' <Reed.Werner@thehartford.com>; Baarson, Kat (Liability Claims)
<Katherine.Baarson@thehartford.com>
Subject: RE: PA0018907997 FW: Clements, David [CONFIDENTIAL] (Encrypted Delivery)

It is both.  But dealing with the trauma after the care is more a loss of consortium, which is likely a derivative. 

She is getting into JoAnn Lippert, Ph.D. to deal with PTSD.  As an example, she can no longer drive by the accident site because she
will go into a panic attach.  As you might know, she only lives a few blocks from the crash area, and now she just goes out over her
way to never go by it.

During the recorded conversation with her UIM carrier, she broke down and couldn’t stop crying and shaking.

Her main trauma is the PTSD stemming from seeing her paralyzed husband in the crosswalk and thinking he was dead.  Also, the
police office would not let her go next to her husband, and she thought that was because he was dead.

If you want me to make her available for an unrecorded telephone call, I’m happy to make her available. 

From: Werner, Reed J (Claims Solutions and Analytics) <Reed.Werner@thehartford.com> 
Sent: Tuesday, December 22, 2020 9:50 AM
To: Brent Harsh <brent@coulterharshlaw.com>; Baarson, Kat (Liability Claims) <Katherine.Baarson@thehartford.com>
Subject: RE: PA0018907997 FW: Clements, David [CONFIDENTIAL] (Encrypted Delivery)

Brent,

Sorry I was not able to call you last night.  My arbitration did not get over until nearly 6 pm.  Do you have anything that shows that
Sheela received treatment after the injury to her husband, or is the claim that she was traumatized and now has to deal with caring
for her husband?

REED J. WERNER, ESQ
Senior Staff Attorney
The Law Offices of Eric R. Larsen

Employees of a Subsidiary of The Hartford Financial Services Group, Inc.
9275 W. Russell Rd. Ste. 205
Las Vegas, Nevada 89148
W: 702-387-8080
F: 877-369-5819

Reed.Werner@thehartford.com
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******************************************************************************************************
This communication, including attachments, is for the exclusive use of addressee and may contain proprietary, confidential and/or
privileged information. If you are not the intended recipient, any use, copying, disclosure, dissemination or distribution is strictly
prohibited. If you are not the intended recipient, please notify the sender immediately by return e-mail, delete this communication
and destroy all copies.

******************************************************************************************************
******************************************************************************************************
This communication, including attachments, is for the exclusive use of addressee and may contain proprietary, confidential
and/or privileged information. If you are not the intended recipient, any use, copying, disclosure, dissemination or distribution
is strictly prohibited. If you are not the intended recipient, please notify the sender immediately by return e-mail, delete this
communication and destroy all copies.

******************************************************************************************************
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and destroy all copies.

******************************************************************************************************
******************************************************************************************************
This communication, including attachments, is for the exclusive use of addressee and may contain proprietary, confidential
and/or privileged information. If you are not the intended recipient, any use, copying, disclosure, dissemination or distribution
is strictly prohibited. If you are not the intended recipient, please notify the sender immediately by return e-mail, delete this
communication and destroy all copies.

******************************************************************************************************
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From: Werner  Reed J (Claims Solutions and Analytics)
To: Kait Flocchini
Subject: FW: PA0018907997 Re: Clements, David/Sheela [CONFIDENTIAL] (Encrypted Delivery)
Date: Tuesday, July 27, 2021 10:20:23 AM
Attachments: image001.png

Police Report-5613.pdf

From: Brent Harsh <brent@coulterharshlaw.com> 
Sent: Monday, December 28, 2020 11:54 AM
To: Baarson, Kat (Liability Claims) <Katherine.Baarson@thehartford.com>; Werner, Reed J (Claims Solutions and Analytics)
<Reed.Werner@thehartford.com>
Subject: PA0018907997 Re: Clements, David/Sheela

I just received this today

Brent H. Harsh
Trial Attorney
COULTER HARSH LAW
403 Hill Street
Reno, Nevada  89501
Tel: 775-324-3380
Fax: 775-324-3381

******************************************************************************************************
This communication, including attachments, is for the exclusive use of addressee and may contain proprietary, confidential
and/or privileged information. If you are not the intended recipient, any use, copying, disclosure, dissemination or distribution
is strictly prohibited. If you are not the intended recipient, please notify the sender immediately by return e-mail, delete this
communication and destroy all copies.

******************************************************************************************************
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EXHIBIT 1 

EXHIBIT 1 
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Exhibit D 

Exhibit D 
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B. Witnesses and Brief Statement of Facts 

1. Respondent Brent Harsh, Esq. may offer testimony regarding his 

representation of David and Sheela Clements and communication with attorney Reed 

Werner and Werner’s client Sandra Sei related thereto. 

2. Grievant Reed Werner, Esq., may offer testimony about his representation of 

Sandra Sei, and/or her insurance provider The Hartford, related to the David and Sheela 

Clements matter.  Mr. Werner’s contact information is: 

The Law Office of Eric R. Larsen 
9275 W. Russell Road, Suite 205 
Las Vegas, NV  89148 
(702) 387-8080 
Reed.Werner@thehartford.com 
 
3.  Christopher Turtzo, Esq., may offer testimony about his representation of Sandra 

Sei, and/or her insurance provider The Hartford, related to the David and Sheela Clements 

matter.  Mr. Turtzo’s contact information is: 

Morris, Sullivan and Lemkul, LLP. 
3960 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 420 
Las Vegas, NV  89169 
(702) 405-8100 
turtzo@morrissullivanlaw.com 
 
4.  Katherine Baarson may offer testimony regarding her communications with Mr. 

Harsh, Mr. Werner and Ms. Sei.  Ms. Baarson’s contact information is: 

The Hartford Insurance Group 
P.O. Box 14265 
Lexington, KY  40512-4264 
(460) 629-9051 
katherine.Baarson@thehartford.com 

 
/// 
 
/// 
 
/// 
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5. A custodian of records from the Office of Bar Counsel may be called to testify about

Respondent’s licensure and discipline history with the State Bar of Nevada. 

Dated this ____ day of August 2021. 

STATE BAR OF NEVADA 
DANIEL M. HOOGE, BAR COUNSEL 

By:  ___________________________ 
R. Kait Flocchini, Assistant Bar Counsel
Nevada Bar No. 9861
9456 Double R Blvd., Ste. B
Reno, NV  89521
(775) 329-4100

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE BY MAIL 

The undersigned hereby certifies that a true and correct copy of the foregoing Notice 

of Hearing; State Bar of Nevada’s Final Disclosures was served by regular and 

certified first-class mail upon:  

Brent D. Harsh, Esq. 
c/o Christian Moore, Esq. 
Lemons Grundy & Eisenberg 
6005 Plumas Street, Third Floor 
Reno, NV  89519 

Dated this ___ day of August 2021. 

________________________ 
Laura Peters, an employee of  
the State Bar of Nevada 

31st

31
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ERIC A  STOVALL, LTD 25 
--Attorney at Law-- 

 
Respondent maintains that the State Bar of Nevada must prove 

by clear and convincing evidence that he had actual knowledge that 

the party he contacted was indeed represented by counsel in order 

find him in violation of NRPC 4.2. Despite having received a 

letter from the attorney of the represented person indicating said 

representation, Respondent claims that he overlooked that part of 

the letter. Therefore, since he did not read it, Harsh insists 

that he did not have actual knowledge of the representation which 

requires the granting of Summary Judgment in his favor. 

Selective reading of a letter from an attorney, especially 

the part that states who that attorney is representing, does not 

create a shield which allows the other attorney to freely contact 

the represented party. Indeed, notations on NRPC 4.2 provide that 

“an attorney who innocently, mistakenly or negligently conducts ex 

parte communications with a party represented by counsel will 

still violate the former S.C.R. 182 (cf. RPC 4.2). Breach of the 

rule does not have to be intentional to be the subject of 

disciplinary action. Neither negligence nor ignorance of the 

former S.C.R. 182 (cf. RPC 4.2) justifies communication with the 

adverse party represented by counsel. (N.B., case decided before 

the provisions of the former S.C.R. 150 to 203.5, inclusive, were 

repealed and reorganized effective May 1, 2006, as RPC 1.0 to 8.5, 

inclusive.) Faison v. Thornton, 863 F. Supp. 1204 (D. Nev. 1993).” 

/// 

/// 
200 Ridge Street, Ste  222    26 

Reno, Nevada 89501 
(775) 337-1444 

Fax (775) 337-1442 27 

28 

/// 

/// 
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1 Accordingly, Respondent’s Motion for Summary Judgment is 

2 denied. 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 
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ERIC A  STOVALL, LTD 25 
--Attorney at Law-- 

200 Ridge Street, Ste  222    26 
Reno, Nevada 89501 

(775) 337-1444 

Fax (775) 337-1442 27 

28 

DATED this 7th day of September, 2021 
 
 

By   
Eric A. Stovall, Esq. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

- 3 - 
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ERIC A  STOVALL, LTD 25 
--Attorney at Law-- 

 
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

Pursuant to NRCP 5(b), I certify that I am an employee of 

ERIC A. STOVALL, LTD., and that on the 7th September, 2021, I am 

serving the foregoing document(s) on the party(s) set forth 

below by Electronic Filing addressed as follows: 

R. Kait Flocchini, Assistant Bar Counsel 
9456 Double R Boulevard 
Reno, NV 89521 
kaitf@nvbar.org 

Brent Harsh, Esq. 
C/o Christian L. Moore, Esq. 
6005 Plumas Street, Third Floor 
Reno, NV 89519 
clm@lge.net 

 

Affirmation-Pursuant to NRS 239B.030 

The undersigned does hereby affirm that the preceding 

document does not contain the social security number of any 

person. 

         
       /s/Diane Davis 

Diane Davis 

200 Ridge Street, Ste  222    26 
Reno, Nevada 89501 

(775) 337-1444 

Fax (775) 337-1442 27 

28 
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Case Nos.: OBC21-0067

STATE BAR OF NEVADA 

NORTHERN NEVADA DISCIPLINARY BOARD 

STATE BAR OF NEVADA,

Complainant, 
vs.

BRENT HARSH, ESQ.,  
BAR NO. 8814

Respondent. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

ORDER AFTER  
PRE-HEARING CONFERENCE 

Pursuant to Rule 23 of the Disciplinary Rules of Procedure, the Hearing Panel Chair Eric 

Stovall, Esq., met via simultaneous audio/visual transmission (Zoom) with Kait Flocchini, Esq., 

Assistant Bar Counsel, on behalf of the State Bar of Nevada, and Christian Moore, Esq. of Lemons 

Grundy and Eisenberg, on behalf of Respondent Brent Harsh, Esq. (“Respondent”), on September 9, 

2021 at 9:00 a.m. and to conduct the Pre-hearing Conference in this matter.  Exhibits, potential 

witnesses, and issuance of trial subpoenas were addressed.   

DETAILS OF PRE-HEARING CONFERENCE

Based on oral representations and arguments made during the Pre-hearing conference, the 

following was decided:  

1. By stipulation, the State Bar’s exhibits 1-3 and 5-11 are admitted and may be

distributed to the Panel prior to the hearing. 
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2. Respondent’s objections of relevancy and foundation to State Bar exhibit 4 is 

OVERRULED.  State Bar exhibit 4 is admitted and may be distributed to the Panel prior to the hearing. 

3. By stipulation, Respondent’s exhibits B, D-J, L-M, and O are admitted and may be 

distributed to the Panel prior to the hearing.  Respondent reserved exhibits L and M from distribution. 

4. The State Bar’s objections of relevancy to Respondent’s exhibits A, C, and K are 

OVERRULED.  Respondent’s exhibits A, C, and K are admitted and may be distributed to the Panel 

prior to the hearing. 

5. The State Bar’s objection of hearsay without any exception to Respondent’s exhibit N 

(the transcript of Ms. Sei’s May 20, 2021 deposition testimony) is SUSTAINED without prejudice.  

Respondent may seek admission of Exhibit N during the hearing if Ms. Sei is unavailable to testify or 

for impeachment purposes.   

6. The parties stipulate that the Nevada Supreme Court’s holdings in Hansen mean that, 

outside of issuance of a reservation of rights letter, an attorney retained by an insurer to opine on 

whether an insurer is obligated to provide insurance coverage for its insured on a particular claim is 

ethically prohibited from also representing the insured for a related matter due to a conflict of interest 

that would exist between the attorney’s clients if there was such dual representation.  

7. Based on the parties’ above stipulation, the State Bar’s request to exclude Scott 

Glogovac, Esq. from testifying in the Formal Hearing as an expert is GRANTED. Respondent is 

permitted to make a proffer of proof to the Panel Chair prior to the hearing in order to preserve the 

record.  

8. The State Bar requested to exclude Karl Smith, Esq. from testifying in the Formal 

Hearing (i) as an expert because it would not be relevant to the proceeding based on the finite nature 

of the alleged misconduct and (ii) as a percipient witness because such testimony would be cumulative 

to testimony offered by Respondent.  The State Bar’s request is GRANTED. Respondent is permitted 

to make a proffer of proof to the Panel Chair prior to the hearing in order to preserve the record.  
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9. Respondent notified the Panel Chair and the State Bar of the recent receipt of redacted 

documents from The Hartford pertaining to the underlying matter, in which the circumstances 

surrounding grievant attorney Reed Werner’s reported engagement to represent Ms. Sei may be 

discussed. The Panel Chair instructed Respondent to follow up with serving document subpoenas on 

The Hartford representatives.

10. The State Bar objected to Respondent’s subpoena duces tecum to Christopher Turtzo, 

Esq. requesting unredacted copies of documents identified as SS000091-SS000092 in the underlying 

matter as unduly burdensome.  Respondent argued that the redacted information is likely related to 

which attorney was retained by The Hartford and the purpose for the retainer, and therefore, is relevant 

to this matter.  The State Bar’s objection is OVERRULED.

11. The Panel Chair and State Bar agree that Respondent can proceed with serving 

subpoenas for disclosed witnesses to testify at the hearing in this matter. 

Good cause appearing, IT IS SO ORDERED. 

Dated this            day of September, 2021. 

      NORTHERN NEVADA DISCIPLINARY BOARD

      By:         
       Eric Stovall, Esq.   
       Hearing Panel Chair
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Case No:  OBC19-0078, OBC19-0404 
and OBC19-1183 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

STATE BAR OF NEVADA 
 

NORTHERN NEVADA DISCIPLINARY BOARD 
 
 
STATE BAR OF NEVADA, 
 
  Complainant, 
 vs. 
 
BRENT HARSH, ESQ.,  
                                  BAR NO. 8814 
                                             
   Respondent. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 
 
 
 

STATE BAR’S HEARING BRIEF 
 

 

Introduction. 

 This disciplinary matter is about whether opposing counsel can unilaterally decide 

that a lawyer does not represent a party in a dispute.  It is a finite issue that should not be 

complicated by the nuances of the tripartite relationship between a lawyer, a client, and an 

insurance company that is paying the lawyer’s bills. 

 Respondent Brent Harsh, Esq. (“Respondent”) knew a lawyer identified himself as 

representing the opposing party in the personal injury case.  He disregarded the lawyer and 

the protection of the lawyer/client relationship afforded by RPC 4.2 when he sent the 

opposing party a letter advising her to seek out additional counsel.  This conduct was a clear 

violation of RPC 4.2 which warrants the imposition of discipline. 
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Summary of Facts. 

 Respondent represents David and Sheela Clements in a personal injury dispute 

against Sandra Sei (“Ms. Sei”).  See Demand letter dated November 16, 2020, admitted as 

Exhibit 3 in the Formal Hearing.1  Ms. Sei was insured by The Hartford and had turned in 

the claim to the insurance company.   

 Reed Werner, Esq. (“Werner”) is a lawyer at the Law Office of Eric Larson who almost 

exclusively defends The Hartford’s insureds against claims.  His position is commonly 

referred to as “staff counsel” or “captive counsel.” 

On December 18, 2020, Werner notified Respondent that he represented Sandra Sei 

in the dispute.  Exhibit H.  On December 21, 2020, Werner responded to an email from 

Respondent by attaching another copy of the letter.  Exhibit 5 and Exhibit 7.  Both 

documents stated “Our Client:  Sandra Sei.”  There was nothing ambiguous about Werner’s 

statement of representation. 

 Between December 21, 2020 and December 22, 2020, Respondent and Werner 

engaged in a discussion regarding potential settlement of Respondent’s clients’ claims pre-

litigation.  Exhibit 6-9.  The correspondence ended with Respondent indicating that he 

would file a Complaint on behalf of his clients and against Werner’s client.  Exhibit 9. 

 On December 22, 2020, Respondent filed the referenced Complaint.  Exhibit A.  

Respondent did not ask Werner if he would accept service of the Summons and Complaint.  

Werner never indicated to Respondent that he no longer represented Ms. Sei regarding the 

Clements’ claims. 

On January 2, 2020, Respondent executed a letter addressed directly to Ms. Sei 

advising her that she should seek personal counsel that specialized in “protecting parties 

1 All references to Exhibits are for the admitted Exhibits to the Formal Hearing distributed separately to the Panel. 
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whose interests might be averse [sic] to their insurance carriers.”  Exhibit 10.  That letter 

was hand-delivered to Ms. Sei with a copy of the filed Summons and Complaint. 

 On January 7, 2021, Respondent emailed the Proof of Service of the Complaint and 

the filed Complaint to Werner and The Hartford claims adjuster Katherine Baarson.  

Exhibit 11.  Respondent did not forward the letter that he addressed to Ms. Sei. 

RPC 4.2 Prohibits Contact with a Represented Person. 
 

RPC 4.2 (Communication with Person Represented by Counsel) states:  
 
In representing a client, a lawyer shall not communicate about the subject of 
the representation with a person the lawyer knows to be represented by 
another lawyer in the matter, unless the lawyer has the consent of the other 
lawyer or is authorized to do so by law or a court order.  
 
 

Comment [1] to Rule 4.2 of the Model Rules of Professional Conduct promulgated by the 

American Bar Association states: 

This Rule contributes to the proper functioning of the legal system by 
protecting a person who has chosen to be represented by a lawyer in a matter 
against possible overreaching by other lawyers who are participating in the 
matter, interference by those lawyers with the client-lawyer relationship, and 
the uncounselled [sic] disclosure of information relating to the 
representation. 
 
 

Comment [8] further clarifies that  

 The prohibition on communications with a represented person only 
applies in circumstance where the lawyer knows that the person is in that 
represented in the matter to be discussed.  This means that the lawyer has 
actual knowledge of the fact of the representation; but such actual knowledge 
may be inferred from the circumstances.  Thus, the lawyer cannot evade the 
requirement of obtaining the consent of counsel by closing eyes to the 
obvious. 
 

Citation omitted.  ABA Formal Opinion 472 (November 30, 2015)2 references Comment [8] 

and extrapolates that the prohibition on contact with represented parties may require a 

2 ABA Formal Opinion 472 in included as Hearing Brief Exhibit A for easy reference. 
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lawyer to inquire if a party is represented if the circumstances indicate that there may be 

representation.  Thus, RPC 4.2 has been interpreted to require a lawyer to err on the side of 

caution and protect the sanctity of the client-lawyer relationship. 

Respondent’s Letter to Ms. Sei Violated RPC 4.2. 

 Respondent was told in no uncertain terms that Ms. Sei was Werner’s client.  

Respondent acknowledged receipt of Werner’s communication.  Werner, on behalf of Ms. 

Sei, engaged with Respondent to try to negotiate a resolution of the claims.  Not only did the 

circumstances infer that Werner was representing Ms. Sei in the dispute, but it was directly 

communicated.  Respondent cannot ‘close his eyes’ to Werner’s direct statements or conduct 

regardless of how Respondent would like to interpret Werner’s position in the litigation. 

 Respondent’s understanding of conflicts of interest for counsel retained by insurance 

companies to represent their insureds is irrelevant to this Panel’s analysis of the alleged RPC 

4.2 violation.  There are other methods to question whether a lawyer’s representation of a 

client is appropriate.  For example, a Motion for Disqualification could be filed or a mediator 

could be engaged to convey the concerns of one side to the other.  It is not appropriate to 

unilaterally decide that an assertion of representation is invalid.  To find otherwise would 

completely undermine the express purpose of RPC 4.2. 

Appropriate Sanctions for a Violation of RPC 4.2. 

 The Nevada Supreme Court has directed that four factors, as identified in The 

Annotated Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, (the “Standards”) are relevant to 

determining what sanctions are appropriate for particular misconduct.  See Lerner, supra, 

at 1246.  Those four factors are (i) the duty violated, (ii) the lawyer’s mental state, (iii) the 

potential or actual injury caused by the lawyer’s misconduct and (iv) the existence of 

aggravating or mitigating circumstances.  See id. 
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 An attorney may violate a duty to client, the public, the profession and/or the legal 

system.  See The Annotated Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, Section 3.0 (pg. 117). 

 The Standards provide that an attorney’s mental state can be categorized as 

intentional, knowing, or negligent.  See id. at 120.  “Intentional” is defined as acting “with a 

conscious objective or purpose to accomplish a particular result.”  See id. at 121.  “Knowing” 

is defined as acting “with conscious awareness of the nature or attendant circumstances of 

the conduct, but without the conscious objective or purpose to accomplish a particular 

result.”  See id. at 122 (citations omitted).  Finally, “negligent” is defined as when “a lawyer 

lacks awareness of a substantial risk that circumstances exist or that a result will follow, 

which failure is a deviation from the standard of care that a reasonable lawyer would exercise 

in the situation.”  See id. at 124 (citations omitted).  Mental state is distinguished from 

motivation, which is evaluated as an aggravating or mitigating factor.  See id. 

 Finally, the Standards discuss that an injury may be actual or potential and that injury 

can be inflicted on the client or others, the public, the legal system, or the profession.  See 

id. at 126-127. 

Standards 6.31 through 6.34 in the Standards address the appropriate sanction for 

improperly communicating with individuals in the legal system.  See Standards 6.31-6.34 

attached hereto as Hearing Brief Exhibit B.  The different sections address when the 

sanction of disbarment, suspension, reprimand, and admonition are warranted.   

Particularly, Standard 6.32 provides that suspension is appropriate when a lawyer 

knows that the communication is improper and causes interference or potential information 

with the outcome of the legal proceeding.  In this instance, Respondent was specifically told 

of Werner’s position as counsel; he knew the communication was improper.  Further, 

Respondent’s intent in directly communicating with Ms. Sei was to interfere in her 
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relationship with her counsel, who was hired pursuant to her contract with her insurance 

company. 

Standard 6.33 provides that reprimand is appropriate when a lawyer lacks awareness 

that he should determine if it is proper to engage in communication with an individual in 

the legal system and causes potential interference with the outcome of the legal proceeding.   

For example, in in re Smith, 739 A.2d 11919(Vt. 1999), the Vermont Court found that 

an unsupported and incorrect assumption that a party was unrepresented warranted the 

imposition of a public sanction and a probationary period.3  In that matter, Smith 

represented a husband seeking to gain control of his wife’s assets that were protected by a 

Trust.  The wife had counsel defend against a petition for guardianship.  Five months later, 

the parties appeared at Smith’s office and sought his help to work around the Trust.  Smith 

believed the parties to be compatible and felt that RPC 4.2, therefore, did not apply to his 

communications with the wife.  The Court opined that Smith should have protected the 

client-lawyer relationship by obtaining independent verification from the wife’s counsel 

before proceeding. Id. at 1193.  The Court found that Smith acted deliberately in contacting 

the represented party and reckless in assuming the party was no longer represented.  Id. at 

1194.  The Court also recognized that the potential injury from his conduct was averted when 

the wife’s counsel learned of Smith’s actions and voided them. 

Thus, even if the Panel finds that Respondent’s direct contact with Ms. Sei was 

‘reckless’ it is appropriate to issue a reprimand. 

/// 

 

/// 

3 In re Smith is included as Hearing Brief Exhibit C for easy reference. 
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Conclusion. 

 Respondent violated RPC 4.2 by sending an advisory letter directly to the 

represented, opposing party in a personal injury dispute when he knew that a lawyer 

represented that party.  Respondent’s conduct warrants a sanction and imposition of SCR 

120 costs. 

 

DATED this ____ day of September 2021. 

STATE BAR OF NEVADA 
DANIEL M. HOOGE, BAR COUNSEL 

 

 

___________________________ 
R. Kait Flocchini 
Assistant Bar Counsel 
9456 Double R. Blvd, Suite B 
Reno, Nevada 89123 

22nd
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AMERICAN BAR ASSOCIATION       
STANDING COMMITTEE ON ETHICS AND PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY              

Formal Opinion 472           November 30, 2015 

Communication with Person Receiving Limited-Scope Legal Services 

Under Model Rule 1.2(c), lawyers are authorized to provide limited-scope legal representation. 
Although not required by Rule 1.2(c), the Committee recommends that lawyers providing 
limited-scope representation confirm the scope of the representation in writing provided to the 
client. 

Although Rule 4.2 does not require a lawyer to ask a person if he or she is represented by 
counsel before communicating with that person about the subject of the representation, a 
lawyer’s knowledge that the person has obtained assistance from another lawyer may be 
inferred from circumstances.   If the lawyer has reason to believe that an unrepresented person 
on the opposing side has received limited-scope legal services, the Committee recommends that 
the lawyer begin the communication with that person by asking whether that person is or was 
represented by counsel for any portion of the matter so that the lawyer knows whether to proceed 
under ABA Model Rule 4.2 or 4.3.  When a lawyer has knowledge that a person is represented 
on the matter to be discussed, the lawyer must obtain the consent of counsel prior to speaking 
with the person.  

If the person states that he or she is or was represented by counsel in any part of a matter, and 
does not articulate either that the representation has concluded or that the issue to be discussed 
is clearly outside the scope of the limited-scope representation, the lawyer requesting 
information should contact the lawyer providing limited-scope services to identify the issues on 
which the inquiring lawyer may not communicate directly with the person receiving limited-
scope services. 
 
The lawyer must comply with Rule 4.2 and communicate with the person’s counsel when the 
communication concerns an issue, decision, or action for which the person is represented. Under 
Rule 4.3, however, the lawyer may communicate directly with the person on aspects of the matter 
for which no representation exists.  On aspects of the matter for which representation has been 
completed and the lawyer providing limited-scope services is not expected to reemerge to 
represent the client, a lawyer may communicate directly with the other person.  Communication 
with a person who received limited-scope legal services about an issue for which representation 
has concluded should not include inquiries about protected communications between the person 
and the lawyer providing limited-scope services.   

In this opinion the Committee addresses the obligations of a lawyer under ABA Model 
Rule of Professional Conduct 4.2, Communication with Person Represented by Counsel, 
commonly called the “no contact” rule, and ABA Model Rule of Professional Conduct 4.3, 

Harsh ROA 147



Dealing with Unrepresented Person, when communicating with a person who is receiving or has 
received limited-scope representation under ABA Model Rule of Professional Conduct 1.2, 
Scope of Representation and Allocation of Authority Between Client and Lawyer.1  We also 
provide recommendations for lawyers providing limited-scope representation.  

Like all the Model Rules of Professional Conduct, Rules 1.2, 4.2, and 4.3 are intended to 
be rules of reason and must be construed and applied “with reference to the purposes of legal 
representation and the law itself.”2  In a limited-scope representation, the Model Rules in 
general, and Model Rule 4.2 specifically, must be interpreted accordingly because limited-scope 
representations do not naturally fit into either the traditional full-matter representation 
contemplated by Model Rule 4.2 or the wholly pro se representation contemplated by Model 
Rule 4.3. 

Rule 1.2, Scope of Representation and Allocation of Authority Between Client and Lawyer 

Model Rule 1.2(c) reads: “A lawyer may limit the scope of the representation if the 
limitation is reasonable under the circumstances and the client gives informed consent.”3  Today 
lawyers increasingly represent clients on a limited-scope basis.   

Limited-scope representation may include assisting a litigant who is appearing before a 
tribunal pro se, by drafting or reviewing one or more documents to be submitted in the 
proceeding.  “This is a form of ‘unbundling’ of legal services, whereby a lawyer performs only 
specific, limited tasks instead of handling all aspects of a matter.” See ABA Formal Ethics 
Opinion 07-446 (2007).4 

Although limited-scope representation is not restricted to low-income clients or small 
claims matters, the ABA Ethics 2000 Commission explained that the proposed amendments to 
Model Rule 1.2(c) and its Comments regarding limited-scope representations were in part 
“intended to provide a framework within which lawyers may expand access to legal services by 
providing limited but nonetheless valuable legal services to low- or moderate-income persons 
who otherwise would be unable to obtain counsel.”5 

Rule 1.2(c) requires a lawyer to secure the informed consent of a client when providing 
limited-scope services.  Informed consent is defined as: “the agreement by a person to a 
proposed course of conduct after the lawyer has communicated adequate information and 

 1. This opinion is based on the Model Rules of Professional Conduct as amended by the American Bar Association 
House of Delegates through February 2013. The laws, court rules, regulations, rules of professional conduct, and opinions 
promulgated in the individual jurisdiction are controlling.  
 2. MODEL RULES OF PROF’L CONDUCT, Preamble & Scope [14]. 
 3. MODEL RULES OF PROF’L CONDUCT R. 1.2(c). 
 4. ABA Formal Op. 07-447 (2007) addressed the scope of representation of a client in a collaborative law setting.  In 
that Opinion, the Committee determined that “[A] lawyer may provide legal assistance to litigants appearing before tribunals ‘pro 
se’ and help them prepare written submissions without disclosing or ensuring the disclosure of the nature or extent of such 
assistance.”  The Committee rejected the argument that courts are deceived by lawyers who “ghostwrite” legal documents for pro 
se litigants or that such conduct is “dishonest,” noting that the conduct does not mislead the court or any party. 
 5. A LEGISLATIVE HISTORY: THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE ABA MODEL RULES OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT, 1982-2013, at 
59 (Art Garwin ed., 2013).  
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explanation about the material risks of and reasonably available alternatives to the proposed 
course of conduct.”6  The Colorado Bar Association advised in Formal Ethics Opinion 101 that a 
lawyer providing limited-scope services to a client should “clearly explain the limitations of the 
representation, including the types of services which are not being provided and the probable 
effect of limited representation on the client’s rights and interests.”7  The D.C. Bar Legal Ethics 
Committee advised in its Opinion 330 (2005) that the “client’s understanding of the scope of the 
services” is fundamental to a limited-scope representation.8  Opinion 330 recommended that 
lawyers reduce such agreements to writing:  

Because the tasks excluded from a limited services agreement will 
typically fall to the client to perform or not get done at all, it is 
essential that clients clearly understand the division of 
responsibilities under a limited representation agreement . . . 
Particularly in the context of limited-representation agreements, 
however, a writing clearly explaining what is and is not 
encompassed within the agreement to provide services will be 
helpful in ensuring the parties’ mutual understanding.9  

Similarly, the Ethics 2000 Commission recommended adding a formal Comment to Rule 
1.2 that a “specification of the scope of representation will normally be a necessary part of the 
lawyer’s written communication of the rate or basis of the lawyer’s fee as required by Rule 
1.5(b).”  However, because the House of Delegates rejected the Commission’s parallel proposal 
to amend Rule 1.5(b) — which would have required written fee agreements that included an 
explanation of the scope of the representation, the basis or rate of the fee, and the expenses for 
which the client will be responsible — this proposed Rule 1.2 Comment language was not 
advanced.10   

Therefore, although not required by Rule 1.2(c), the Committee nevertheless 
recommends that when lawyers provide limited-scope representation to a client, they confirm 
with the client the scope of the representation — including the tasks the lawyer will perform and 
not perform — in writing that the client can read, understand, and refer to later.  This guidance is 
in accord with Model Rule 1.5(b) which explains:  

The scope of the representation and the basis or rate of the fee and 
expenses for which the client will be responsible shall be 
communicated to the client, preferably in writing, before or within 
a reasonable time after commencing the representation, except 
when the lawyer will charge a regularly represented client on the 

 6. MODEL RULES OF PROF’L CONDUCT R. 1.0(e). 
 7. Colorado Bar Ass’n Formal Op. 101 (1998, rev. by addendum 2006). 
 8. D.C. Bar Op. 330 (2005). 
 9. Id. 
 10. A LEGISLATIVE HISTORY, supra note 5, at 61-62. 
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same basis or rate. Any changes in the basis or rate of the fee or 
expenses shall also be communicated to the client. 

The Committee notes that some state rules of professional conduct require a written 
agreement when a lawyer provides limited-scope services.  See, e.g., Maryland Lawyers’ Rules 
of Professional Conduct, Rule 1.2(c)(3); Missouri Rule of Professional Conduct 1.2(c); Montana 
Rule of Professional Conduct 1.2(c)(2); and New Hampshire Rule of Professional Conduct 1.2(c) 
and 1.2(g). Other states explain that a written agreement is preferred. See Ohio Rule of 
Professional Conduct 1.2(c) and Tennessee Rule of Professional Conduct 1.2(c).  Additionally, 
some state rules of civil procedure require a limited-scope appearance filing with the court 
identifying each aspect of the proceeding to which the limited-scope appearance pertains.  See, 
e.g., Illinois Supreme Court Rule 13(c)(6).  Therefore, lawyers providing limited-scope 
representation are advised to review their state rules to determine whether a written agreement is 
required for their limited-scope representation.11 

If a lawyer who is providing limited-scope services is contacted by opposing counsel in 
the matter, the lawyer should identify the issues on which the inquiring lawyer may not 
communicate directly with the person receiving limited-scope services.  A lawyer providing 
limited-scope legal services to a client generally has no basis to object to communications 
between the opposing counsel and the client receiving those services on any matter outside the 
scope of the limited representation.   

These issues would best be resolved at the inception of the client-lawyer relationship by 
the client giving the lawyer providing limited-scope representation informed consent to reveal to 
opposing counsel what issues should be discussed with counsel and what issues can be discussed 
with the client directly.     

Model Rule 4.2, Communication with Person Represented by Counsel:  
Is there a duty to ask? 
 

The ABA ethics rules have included a “no-contact” rule since the 1908 adoption of the 
ABA Canons of Professional Ethics.12  Current Model Rule 4.2 reads: 

In representing a client, a lawyer shall not communicate about the 
subject of the representation with a person the lawyer knows to be 

 11. Because a tribunal may require disclosure of the scope of the services performed by the lawyer, and because a client 
receiving limited-scope services may desire to disclose to opposing counsel the scope of services performed by the lawyer, the 
Committee cautions lawyers providing limited-scope services to draft their limited-scope legal service agreement so that the 
agreement does not reveal information beyond that necessary for the client, opposing counsel, or the tribunal to determine the 
scope of the representation. For an example of a limited-scope agreement that lists services to be performed, see Reporter’s Notes 
to Maine Rule of Professional Conduct 1.2 Limited Representation Agreement.  The agreement lists 20 categories of legal 
services. 
 12. ABA Canon 9: “Negotiations with Opposite Party. A lawyer should not in any way communicate upon the subject 
of controversy with a party represented by counsel; much less should he undertake to negotiate or compromise the matter with 
him, but should deal only with his counsel. It is incumbent upon the lawyer most particularly to avoid everything that may tend to 
mislead a party not represented by counsel, and he should not undertake to advise him as to the law.”  Canon 9 is available at: 
http://www.americanbar.org/content/dam/aba/migrated/cpr/mrpc/Canons_Ethics.authcheckdam.pdf. 
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represented by another lawyer in the matter, unless the lawyer has 
the consent of the other lawyer or is authorized to do so by law or a 
court order. 

Model Rule 4.2 protects clients who have chosen to be represented by a lawyer from 
having another lawyer interfere with the client-lawyer relationship by, for example, seeking 
uncounseled disclosure of information and/or uncounseled concessions and admissions related to 
the representation.13  A lawyer directly communicating with an individual, however, will only 
violate Rule 4.2 if the lawyer knows that the person is represented by another lawyer in the 
matter to be discussed.14  “Knows” is defined by the Model Rules as “actual knowledge of the 
fact in question. A person’s knowledge may be inferred from circumstances.”15 

ABA Model Rule 4.3 reads:  

In dealing on behalf of a client with a person who is not 
represented by counsel, a lawyer shall not state or imply that the 
lawyer is disinterested. When the lawyer knows or reasonably 
should know that the unrepresented person misunderstands the 
lawyer’s role in the matter, the lawyer shall make reasonable 
efforts to correct the misunderstanding. The lawyer shall not give 
legal advice to an unrepresented person, other than the advice to 
secure counsel, if the lawyer knows or reasonably should know 
that the interests of such a person are or have a reasonable 
possibility of being in conflict with the interests of the client. 

Lawyers confronted with a person who appears to be managing a matter pro se but may 
be receiving or have received legal assistance, often are left in a quandary.  May the lawyer 
assume that such persons are proceeding without the aid of counsel and, therefore, speak directly 
to them about the matter under Model Rule 4.3, or should the lawyer first ask whether they are 
represented in the matter and then proceed accordingly under either Rule 4.2 or 4.3? 

Interpreting Model Rule 4.2 in July 1995, ABA Formal Ethics Opinion 95-396, noted: 

It would not, from such a practical point of view, be reasonable to 
require a lawyer in all circumstances where the lawyer wishes to 
speak to a third person in the course of his representation of a 
client first to inquire whether the person is represented by counsel: 
among other things, such a routine inquiry would unnecessarily 
complicate perfectly routine fact-finding, and might well 

 13. MODEL RULES OF PROF’L CONDUCT R. 4.2, cmt. [1]. 
 14. See, e.g., Okla. Bar Ass’n v. Harper, 995 P.2d 1143 (Okla. 2000) (lawyer did not violate Rule 4.2 without actual 
knowledge of the representation.  “Ascribing actual knowledge to a lawyer based on the facts is not the same as applying the rule 
under circumstances where the lawyer should have known.”). 
 15. MODEL RULES OF PROF’L CONDUCT R. 1.0(f). 
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unnecessarily obstruct such fact-finding by conveying a suggestion 
that there was a need for counsel in circumstances where there was 
none, thus discouraging witnesses from talking.16 (Emphasis 
added.) 

Thus, while the black letter of Model Rule 4.2 does not include a duty to ask whether a 
person is represented by counsel, this Committee reiterates the warning of Comment [8] to Rule 
4.2 that a lawyer cannot evade the requirement of obtaining the consent of counsel before 
speaking with a represented person by “closing eyes to the obvious.”17  

In circumstances involving what appears to be an unrepresented person, but in fact may 
be a person represented by a lawyer under a limited-scope agreement, a lawyer’s knowledge that 
the person has obtained some degree of legal representation may be inferred from the facts.18  
Such circumstances include, for example: when a lawyer representing a client faces what appears 
to be a pro se opposing party who has filed a pleading that appears to have been prepared by a 
lawyer or when a lawyer representing a client in a transaction is negotiating an agreement with 
what appears to be a pro se person who presents an agreement or a counteroffer that appears to 
have been prepared by a lawyer.19 

Therefore, the Committee recommends that, in the circumstances where it appears that a 
person on the opposing side has received limited-scope legal services, the lawyer begin the 
communication by asking whether the person is represented by counsel for any portion of the 
matter so that the lawyer knows whether to proceed under ABA Model Rule 4.2 or 4.3.  This 
may assist a lawyer in avoiding potential disciplinary complaints, motions to disqualify, motions 
to exclude testimony, and monetary sanctions, all of which could impede a client’s matter.20  It is 
not a violation of the Model Rules of Professional Conduct for the lawyer to make initial contact 
with a person to determine whether legal representation, limited or otherwise, exists.   
  

 16. ABA Formal Op. 95-396, fn. 39 (1995).  Immediately after the release of Formal Opinion 95-396, Rule 4.2, 
Comment [5] was amended to read: “The prohibition on communications with a represented person only applies, however, in 
circumstances where the lawyer knows that the person is in fact represented in the matter to be discussed. This means that the 
lawyer has actual knowledge of the fact of the representation; but such actual knowledge may be inferred from the circumstances. 
See Terminology. Such an inference may arise in circumstances where there is a substantial reason to believe that the person with 
whom communication is sought is represented in the matter to be discussed. Thus, the lawyer cannot evade the requirement of 
obtaining the consent of counsel by closing eyes to the obvious.” However, the Ethics 2000 Commission recommended to the 
ABA House of Delegates that the sentence explaining “inference” be deleted, and the House adopted this recommendation in 
2002.  According to the “Reporter’s Observations” document submitted to the House with the Ethics 2000 Commission 
resolution, this description of the knowledge requirement was “inconsistent with the definition of ‘knows’ in Rule 1.0(f), which 
requires actual knowledge and involves no duty to inquire.” See A LEGISLATIVE HISTORY, supra note 5, at 566, citing ABA 
House of Delegates Report 401 (Feb. 2002).   
 17. MODEL RULES OF PROF’L CONDUCT R. 4.2, cmt. [8]. 
 18. MODEL RULES OF PROF’L CONDUCT R. 1.0(f) (defining “knows”). 
 19. See generally State Bar of Arizona Op. 05-06 (2005) (filing of documents prepared by lawyer but signed by client 
receiving limited-scope representation is not misleading because “. . . a court or tribunal can generally determine whether that 
document was written with a lawyer's help.”). 
 20. See, e.g., Weeks v. Independent School Dist. No. I-89, 230 F.3d 1201 (10th Cir. 2000) (affirming district court’s 
disqualification of lawyer who interviewed members of control group in violation of Rule 4.2).  
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If the person discloses representation under a limited-scope agreement and does not 
articulate either that the representation has concluded (as would be the case if the person 
indicates that yes, a lawyer drafted documents, but is not providing any other representation), or 
that the issue to be discussed is clearly outside the scope of the limited-scope representation, then 
the lawyer should  contact opposing counsel to determine the issues on which the inquiring 
lawyer may not communicate directly with the client receiving limited-scope services.21  

When the communication concerns an issue, decision, or action for which the person is 
represented, the lawyer must comply with Rule 4.2 and communicate with the person’s counsel.   
 

The lawyer may communicate directly with the person on aspects of the matter for which 
there is no representation.22  For these communications, the lawyer must comply with Rule 4.3.  
On aspects of the matter for which representation has been completed and the lawyer providing 
limited-scope services is not expected to reemerge to represent the client, a lawyer may 
communicate directly with the other person.  We note that Rule 1.6 and the confidentiality of 
communications between a lawyer and the lawyer’s client does not end when the limited 
representation concludes.  Therefore, any communication with a person who received limited-
scope legal services about an issue for which representation has concluded should not include 
inquiries about communications between the person and the lawyer providing limited-scope 
services.   
   

If at any point in the matter the person — or the lawyer providing the limited-scope 
representation to that person — notifies the communicating lawyer that the scope of the 
representation was expanded, the communicating lawyer must act in accordance with Rule 4.2 as 
to any issues, decisions, or actions implicated by the expansion of the scope of services. 
 
Conclusion 
 

Under Model Rule 1.2(c), lawyers are authorized to provide limited-scope legal 
representation. Although not required by Rule 1.2(c), the Committee recommends that lawyers 
providing limited-scope representation confirm the scope of the representation in writing 
provided to the client. 
 

Although Rule 4.2 does not require a lawyer to ask a person if he or she is represented by 
counsel before communicating with that person about the subject of the representation, a 
lawyer’s knowledge that the person has obtained assistance from another lawyer may be inferred 
from circumstances.   If the lawyer has reason to believe that an unrepresented person on the 
opposing side has received limited-scope legal services, the Committee recommends that the 

 21. MODEL RULES OF PROF’L CONDUCT R. 4.2, cmt. [3] (“A lawyer must immediately terminate communication with a 
person if, after commencing communication, the lawyer learns that the person is one with whom communication is not permitted 
by this Rule.”). 
 22. MODEL RULES OF PROF’L CONDUCT R. 4.2, cmt. [4] (“This Rule does not prohibit communication with a represented 
person ... concerning matters outside the representation.”).  
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lawyer begin the communication with that person by asking whether that person is or was 
represented by counsel for any portion of the matter so that the lawyer knows whether to proceed 
under ABA Model Rule 4.2 or 4.3.  When a lawyer has knowledge that a person is represented 
on the matter to be discussed, the lawyer must obtain the consent of counsel prior to speaking 
with the person.  
 

If the person states that he or she is or was represented by counsel in any part of a matter, 
and does not articulate either that the representation has concluded or that the issue to be 
discussed is clearly outside the scope of the limited-scope representation, the lawyer requesting 
information should contact the lawyer providing limited-scope services to identify the issues on 
which the inquiring lawyer may not communicate directly with the person receiving limited-
scope services. 
 

The lawyer must comply with Rule 4.2 and communicate with the person’s counsel when 
the communication concerns an issue, decision, or action for which the person is represented. 
Under Rule 4.3, however, the lawyer may communicate directly with the person on aspects of 
the matter for which no representation exists.  On aspects of the matter for which representation 
has been completed and the lawyer providing limited-scope services is not expected to reemerge 
to represent the client, a lawyer may communicate directly with the other person.  
Communication with a person who received limited-scope legal services about an issue for 
which representation has concluded should not include inquiries about protected communications 
between the person and the lawyer providing limited-scope services. 
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6.3 Improper Communications with Individuals in the Legal System 

Absent aggravating or mitigating circumstances, upon application of the factors set 
out in Standard 3.0, the following sanctions are generally appropriate in cases 
involving attempts to influence a judge, juror, prospective juror or other official by 
means prohibited by law: 

6.31 
Disbarment is generally appropriate when a lawyer: 

a) intentionally tampers with a witness and causes serious or potentially serious 
injury to a party, or causes significant or potentially significant interference 
with the outcome of the legal proceeding; or 

b) makes an ex parte communication with a judge or juror with intent to affect 
the outcome of the proceeding, and causes serious or potentially serious injury 
to a party, or causes significant or potentially significant interference with the 
outcome of the legal proceeding; or 

c) improperly communicates with someone in the legal system other than a 
witness, judge, or juror with the intent to influence or affect the outcome of the 
proceeding and causes significant or potentially significant interference with 
the outcome of the legal proceeding. 

6.32 
Suspension is generally appropriate when a lawyer engages in communication with 
an individual in the legal system when the lawyer knows that such communication 
is improper, and causes injury or potential injury to a party or causes interference or 
potential interference with the outcome of the legal proceeding.  

6.33 
Reprimand is generally appropriate when a lawyer is negligent in determining 
whether it is proper to engage in communication with an individual in the legal 
system, and causes injury or potential injury to a party or interference or potential 
interference with the outcome of the legal proceeding. 

6.34 
Admonition is generally appropriate when a lawyer engages in an isolated instance 
of negligence in improperly communicating with an individual in the legal system, 
and causes little or no actual or potential injury to a party, or causes little or no actual 
or potential interference with the outcome of the legal proceeding.  
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Core Terms

power of attorney, recommendation, reprimand

Case Summary

Procedural Posture
The Professional Conduct Board (Vermont) 
recommended that respondent attorney be reprimanded 
for improper contact with an individual who was 
represented by counsel.

Overview
The Professional Conduct Board recommended that 
respondent attorney be reprimanded for improper 
contact with an individual who was represented by 
counsel. Respondent had previously represented a 
husband against his wife in an involuntary guardianship 
proceeding, in which the wife was represented by 
counsel. Some time later, at the husband's request 
respondent prepared a document for the wife revoking a 
trust and any powers of attorney. The husband told him 
falsely that the wife was no longer represented. 
Respondent also prepared for the wife's signature a 
general power of attorney, which by its terms gave the 
husband complete control over her assets. Respondent 
met with the wife and explained to her that the purpose 
of the power of attorney was to allow her husband to 
obtain information from the bank. He also told her that 
the power of attorney allowed her husband to do only 
what she directed him to do. This, by the very terms of 
the document, was not true, although respondent 
seemed to have believed that the power of attorney was 
so limited. The court held that respondent clearly 
violated DR 7-104(A) and in these circumstances a 

public sanction was appropriate.

Outcome
The court adopted the recommendations for a 
reprimand below, and ordered that the reprimand be 
public. The court also ordered respondent placed on 
probation for a period of six months. During this 
probationary period, respondent would be required to 
complete five hours of continuing legal education in 
ethics, particularly in the area of conflicts, and another 
five hours of continuing legal education in the area of 
trusts and estates.

LexisNexis® Headnotes

Legal Ethics > Client Relations > Conflicts of 
Interest

HN1[ ]  Client Relations, Conflicts of Interest

During the course of his representation of a client a 
lawyer shall not communicate or cause another to 
communicate on the subject matter of the 
representation with a party he knows to be represented 
by a lawyer in that matter unless he has the prior 
consent of the lawyer representing such other party or is 
authorized by law to do so.

Legal Ethics > Client Relations > Conflicts of 
Interest

HN2[ ]  Client Relations, Conflicts of Interest

An attorney shall not give advice to a person who is not 
represented by a lawyer, other than the advice to secure 
counsel, if the interests of such person are or have a 
reasonable possibility of being in conflict with the 
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interests of his client.

Legal Ethics > Sanctions > Reprimands

HN3[ ]  Sanctions, Reprimands

Reprimand is generally appropriate when a lawyer is 
negligent in determining whether it is proper to engage 
in communication with an individual in the legal system, 
and causes injury or potential injury to a party or 
interference or potential interference with the outcome 
of the legal proceeding.

Judges: Jeffrey L. Amestoy, Chief Justice. John A. 
Dooley, Associate Justice, James L. Morse, Associate 
Justice, Denise R. Johnson, Associate Justice, Marilyn 
S. Skoglund, Associate Justice.  

Opinion by: JEFFREY L. AMESTOY

Opinion

 [*617]   [**1192]  ENTRY ORDER

Pursuant to the recommendation of the Professional 
Conduct Board filed April 8, 1999, and approval thereof, 
it is hereby ordered that Jeffrey T. Smith, Esq. be 
publicly reprimanded for the reasons set forth in the 
Board's report attached hereto for publication as part of 
the order of this Court. A.O. 9, Rule 8E.

Attorney Smith shall also be placed on probation for 6 
months with the conditions set forth in the attached 
report. The period of probation shall begin on August 1, 
1999.

BY THE COURT:

Jeffrey L. Amestoy, Chief Justice

John A. Dooley, Associate Justice

James L. Morse, Associate Justice

Denise R. Johnson, Associate Justice

Marilyn S. Skoglund, Associate Justice 

REPORT TO THE SUPREME COURT

Facts

Respondent has been a member of the Vermont bar for 
over 25 years. He is a solo practitioner in the town of 
Brandon.

In 1995, respondent represented one Clifton Alexander, 
who was married to Margaret Alexander. The 
Alexanders had a sometimes difficult relationship, which 
often had issues relevant to an imbalance of power 
between them. One source of discord was Mrs. 
Alexander's money which was held in a trust established 
by Margaret Alexander to protect her assets. The 
trustee was her nephew, Richard Dubois.

Mr. Alexander brought an involuntary guardianship 
petition against his wife in 1995. Respondent was 
appointed to represent him on a pro bono basis.

Mrs. Alexander was represented by Carolyn Tonelli, 
Esq. who had represented Mrs. Alexander since at least 
1992. Her response to the petition was that while Mrs. 
Alexander was [***2]  frail, had a poor memory, and was 
susceptible to her husband's pressures, she was legally 
competent. On behalf of Mr. Alexander, respondent 
withdrew the guardianship petition in March of 1995.

Less than six months later, Mr. Alexander told 
respondent that he and his wife had been to the banks 
in Randolph in an attempt to get information about Mrs. 
Alexander's assets. They were denied the information 
and told they would have to obtain that information from 
the trustee, Mr. Dubois. Mr. Alexander felt that Mr. 
Dubois was not cooperative with his requests for 
information.

At Mr. Alexander's request, respondent prepared a 
document for Mrs. Alexander's signature whereby she 
revoked the trust and any power of attorney that Mr. 
Dubois or anyone else may have held. At the time he 
did this, respondent was aware of DR 7-104(A), the 
disciplinary rule prohibiting him from direct contact with 
an adverse party who was represented by counsel. 
Respondent felt that the rule did not apply because the 
couple seemed to be compatible. Further, Mr. Alexander 
told him that Attorney Tonelli was no longer Mrs. 
Alexander's counsel. This was not true. 

 [*618]   [**1193]  Mrs. Alexander signed the document 
in respondent's office [***3]  on August 18, 1995, 
although respondent was not personally present.

Respondent also prepared for Mrs. Alexander's 
signature a power of attorney, which by its terms gave 
Mr. Alexander complete control over Mrs. Alexander's 
assets.

169 Vt. 617, *617; 739 A.2d 1191, **1191; 1999 Vt. LEXIS 224, ***1
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It is a general power of attorney which states that it 
"shall not be affected by disability or death of the 
principal(s)."

In preparing this document, respondent was mindful of 
his client's claim that he needed assets from the trust 
not for his own benefit, but for the benefit of his wife, 
and that the trustee was not providing his wife with 
sufficient funds. Respondent was concerned as to 
whether Mrs. Alexander was competent to sign a new 
power of attorney.

On August 25, 1995, respondent met with Mrs. 
Alexander and explained to her that the purpose of the 
power of attorney was to allow her husband to obtain 
information from the bank. He also told her that the 
power of attorney allowed her husband to do only what 
she directed him to do. This, by the very terms of the 
document, was not true, although respondent seemed 
to have believed that the power of attorney was so 
limited. Respondent appeared to the Board to 
misapprehend the effect of the document he [***4]  had 
prepared. In any event, respondent concluded that Mrs. 
Alexander seemed to know what she was doing. He 
witnessed her signature.

Attorney Tonelli learned of these documents. She 
notified respondent that she was still counsel of record 
and that her client had signed them only due to undue 
pressure by her husband. Attorney Tonelli notified all 
relevant parties that the documents signed by Mrs. 
Alexander without benefit of independent counsel were 
null and void. No actual injury resulted to Mrs. 
Alexander.

Conclusions of Law

Respondent clearly violated DR 7-104(A). * Respondent 
knew that Mrs. Alexander had retained independent 
counsel to assist her in resisting her husband's attempt 
to have her declared incompetent in March of 1995. 
When Mr. Alexander sought respondent's assistance 
only five months later in obtaining Mrs. Alexander's 
power of attorney over her assets, respondent had the 

* HN1[ ]  DR 7-104(A) states: "During the course of his 
representation of a client a lawyer shall not:

(1) Communicate or cause another to communicate on the 
subject matter of the representation with a party he knows to 
be represented by a lawyer in that matter unless he has the 
prior consent of the lawyer representing such other party or is 
authorized by law to do so."

duty to contact Attorney Tonelli and request permission 
to contact her client. It was insufficient to rely upon his 
own client's claim that Attorney Tonelli had been 
discharged, a claim which proved to be untrue. It was 
insufficient to rely upon his client's claim that they were 
no longer in [***5]  an adverse relationship vis a vis Mrs. 
Alexander's assets, a claim which also proved to be 
untrue.

 Even if we were to assume that respondent was correct 
in his belief that Mrs. Alexander was not represented by 
counsel, he would have violated the Code of 
Professional Responsibility by advising Mrs. Alexander 
as to the meaning of the power of attorney which he 
prepared for her to sign. HN2[ ] DR 7-104(A)(2) 
provides that an attorney shall not "give advice to a 
person who is not represented by a lawyer, other than 
the advice to secure counsel, if the interests of such 
person are or have a reasonable possibility of being in 
conflict with the interests of [***6]  his client." Obviously, 
Mr. Alexander's interest in obtaining access to Mrs. 
Alexander's assets conflicted with Mrs. Alexander's 
desire to protect those assets as evidenced by her 
 [*619]  having placed those assets in trust. It is 
particularly distressing that the advice which respondent 
proffered to Mrs. Alexander, i.e., that the general power 
of attorney was  [**1194]  really a limited power of 
attorney, was erroneous.

Sanction

It is obvious to every member of the Board that 
respondent is a well-meaning and gracious person who 
acted without malice or any bad intent. It is also clear to 
the Board, however, that respondent fails to appreciate 
the seriousness of the misconduct. But for Attorney 
Tonelli's intervention, it is quite possible that Mrs. 
Alexander could have suffered a significant monetary 
loss. It is also quite clear that respondent does not 
understand the broad scope of the power of attorney 
which he drafted for Mrs. Alexander.

Despite the parties' joint recommendation that a private 
admonition be imposed here, we are guided by our 
actions in many prior cases of improper contact as well 
as by the ABA Standards for Imposition of Lawyer 
Discipline in recommending a public sanction here. 

 [***7]  This was not an isolated instance of improper 
contact which arose by accident or chance meeting. 
See, e.g., Decision No. 23, PCB Docket No. 91.38, 
(December 6, 1991)(private admonition imposed on 
lawyer who accompanied her client to pick up the 

169 Vt. 617, *618; 739 A.2d 1191, **1193; 1999 Vt. LEXIS 224, ***3
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client's children and became involved in a discussion 
with the represented ex-spouse). To the contrary, 
respondent deliberately planned this contact with the 
represented party not once, but twice.

While respondent did not intend to violate the 
disciplinary rule, he was certainly negligent in failing to 
determine Attorney Tonelli's status in light of his 
knowledge that she had represented Mrs. Alexander 
only five months earlier. Even if Mrs. Alexander had told 
respondent that she had discharged Attorney Tonelli, it 
would have been prudent to check directly with 
opposing counsel. But to simply rely upon the claim of 
his client that the adverse party was no longer 
represented, particularly given this couple's history, was 
reckless. A mere negligent contact in such 
circumstances warrants public reprimand. See In re 
McCaffrey, 275 Ore. 23, 549 P.2d 666 (Or. 1976) 
(attorney who knew adverse party in domestic relations 
matter was [***8]  represented six months earlier was 
publicly reprimanded for direct contact, even though the 
attorney did not know the adverse party was still 
represented), cited with approval in In re Illuzzi, 160 Vt. 
474, 490, 632 A.2d 346, 354 (1993).

We are guided by In re Illuzzi concluding that Standard 
6.33 of the ABA Standards for Imposition of Lawyer 
Discipline controls this case. HN3[ ] That Standard 
provides:

Reprimand is generally appropriate when a lawyer 
is negligent in determining whether it is proper to 
engage in communication with an individual in the 
legal system, and causes injury or potential injury to 
a party or interference or potential interference with 
the outcome of the legal proceeding.

In aggravation, we note that respondent has substantial 
experience in the practice of law and that the victim of 
this misconduct, Mrs. Alexander, was vulnerable. In 
mitigation, we note an absence of a dishonest or selfish 
motive and a full and free disclosure to the disciplinary 
board. These factors do not tilt the balance away from 
our recommendation that a public reprimand be 
imposed.

In order to protect the public and insure that respondent 
receives sufficient [***9]  training in the areas of ethics 
and the substantive law pertinent to trusts and powers 
of attorney, we also recommend that respondent be 
placed on probation for a period of six months. During 
this probationary period, respondent should  [*620]  be 
required to complete five hours of continuing legal 
education in ethics, particularly in the area of conflicts, 

and another five hours of continuing legal education in 
the area of trusts and estates. Respondent should be 
required to report his progress to bar counsel for 
monitoring purposes.  

End of Document

169 Vt. 617, *619; 739 A.2d 1191, **1194; 1999 Vt. LEXIS 224, ***7
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1        CHAIR STOVALL:  I'll call the case of State

2  Bar of Nevada versus Brent Harsh, Esquire.

3            (Meeting recording.)

4        Mr. STOVALL:  Again, the State Bar of Nevada

5  versus Brent Harsh, Esquire, Bar Number 8814.  This is

6  the time and place set for the disciplinary hearing.  It

7  is being recorded.

8        Counsel, may have I appearances?

9        MS. FLOCCHINI:  Yes.  Thank you.  Good

10  morning.  This is Kait Flocchini, on behalf of the State

11  Bar, and also present is Laura Peters, our hearing

12  paralegal.

13        MR. MOORE:  Good morning.  This is Christian

14  Moore with Lemons, Grundy & Eisenberg, and I represent

15  respondent, who is here with me, Brent Harsh.

16        THE COURT:  Great.  Before we proceed, is

17  there any preliminary matters for us to deal with,

18  Counsel?

19        MS. FLOCCHINI:  I have none.

20        MR. MOORE:  Your Honor, I just have a

21  housekeeping matter.  I note that not everyone's video is

22  on.  I think that if the panel members are participants,

23  if someone is observing, I don't think their video needs

24  to be on, but we would appreciate having video for all

25  panel members.
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1        MR. FLOETTA:  So I do appreciate that.  This

2  is Lucas Floetta.  For some reason, my camera is on, but

3  it's showing up as black.  I'm trying to work it out

4  right now.  I don't usually have that problem, but

5  anyway, I do apologize.  I'll try and get it working as

6  soon as I can.  If you want to take a break, I can work

7  on it more, but I can keep doing it as we proceed if

8  you'd like as well.

9        MR. MOORE:  And I'm not trying to delay.  And

10  I respect the fact that there's technological issues, and

11  I'm actually very empathetic to that.  I have no problem

12  if we just try and proceed and hopefully the video will

13  be resolved.

14        CHAIR STOVALL:  Okay.  With that, I agree

15  that everybody who is participating should have their

16  video on, but I appreciate, Counsel, your willingness to

17  proceed with this technical issue.  And hopefully, we'll

18  have it resolved.  And I would just say if you can't get

19  the issue resolved, don't go crazy trying to make it

20  happen.  Just we'll just play along and see if it does

21  happen, but I'd rather have your attention focused on the

22  matters at hand as opposed to the technological issue.

23        So with that, Ms. Flocchini.

24        MS. FLOCCHINI:  May I suggest --

25        THE COURT:  Yes.
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1        MS. FLOCCHINI:  -- as with many technological

2  issues, sometimes it's solved by restarting, so maybe if

3  we take 30 seconds and let Mr. Floetta leave and come

4  back in, that might solve it.  I don't want him to miss

5  anything trying to do that particular --

6        CHAIR STOVALL:  Let's go ahead and take a

7  couple of minutes.

8        And, sir, go ahead and why don't you just

9  leave and reboot the thing and come back in.

10        MR. FLOETTA:  Sure.  I'll do that right now.

11        MS. FLOCCHINI:  Thank you.

12        THE COURT:  That's great.  Now that we're all

13  here and ready, Ms. Flocchini, go ahead and proceed.

14        MS. FLOCCHINI:  Yes.  And thank you for your

15  time here today as volunteers on our disciplinary panel.

16  This is an important issue, and we will do our best to

17  use your time wisely.

18        There are three different types of duties

19  that a lawyer has, and there's a lot of rules going all

20  the way from, you know, one Rule of Professional Conduct

21  1.1 through 8.4, but they can be categorized into these

22  three different types.  One is to the client.  Lawyers

23  have duties to their clients.

24        The second is that a lawyer has a duty to the

25  public as a professional.  And then third, the lawyers
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1  have a duty to the legal system.  There's a duty to

2  follow the rules that we have agreed are going to be the

3  system by which we process legal disputes, and Rule of

4  Professional Conduct 4.2 embodies one of those duties:  A

5  duty to the legal system.

6        Specifically, Rule of Professional Conduct

7  4.2 requires that an attorney refrain from communicating

8  with representative opposing parties about the dispute.

9  We agree that this is one of the ways in which we will

10  manage legal disputes.  So that's the issue that you're

11  here to decide today:  Whether or not Mr. Harsh violated

12  Rule of Professional Conduct 4.2, and if so, what an

13  appropriate consequence is for that violation.

14        You will hear evidence today that establishes

15  that Mr. Harsh did communicate with a representative

16  opposing party about the dispute that they were involved

17  in.  The Bar is going to present testimony from Reed

18  Werner regarding his representation of Ms. Sandra Sei in

19  a particular personal injury dispute.

20        Mr. Werner will testify that he is in-house

21  counsel at the Hartford, and in that position, works to

22  defend various insureds or various people who are insured

23  by the Hartford in their respective legal disputes that

24  when they're sued for, typically, personal injury

25  matters.
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1        You will also hear testimony from Mr. Harsh

2  himself regarding his communication with Mr. Werner's

3  clients, that person that was represented in this

4  particular underlying matter, and then the Bar will

5  present you with testimony from Ms. Baarson.

6        Ms. Baarson is the Hartford claims

7  representative that was assigned to this particular

8  underlying matter, this personal injury case where

9  Mr. Harsh represented some parties and Mr. Werner was

10  representing the Hartford's insured and Ms. Baarson was

11  the claims representative to handle that insured's

12  matter.

13        So the testimony of those three people plus

14  all of the exhibits that you have already received and

15  are already admitted, specifically those being Exhibit 1

16  through 11 from the State Bar and then, in fact,

17  respondent's exhibits, which were marked A through O,

18  most of which you have received, those -- the corpus of

19  all of that evidence will establish, by clear and

20  convincing evidence, that there was this violation of

21  Rule of Professional Conduct 4.2, and the Bar is going to

22  ask this panel, after hearing all of the evidence and the

23  testimony, to apply the ABA standard for imposing

24  sanctions; specifically Standards 6.32 or 6.33 and impose

25  or recommend the imposition of a sanction to Mr. Harsh
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1  for his violation of that Rule of Professional Conduct.

2  So again, thank you for your time, and we will use it

3  wisely.

4        THE COURT:  Thank you, Ms. Flocchini.

5        Mr. Moore?

6        MR. MOORE:  Thank you.  Panel share, is it

7  okay, given the camera angle and the Zoom, if I address

8  the panel while I'm sitting here?

9        CHAIR STOVALL:  That's quite all right.

10  Thank you.

11        MR. MOORE:  Thank you.  Respondent is here

12  today, although the respondent did receive a letter of --

13  a private letter reprimand which in fact was not really

14  private because people can find out that there's a

15  reprimand, but he's here today because that finding made

16  by a screen panel was done in a context where Mr. Harsh

17  did not have an opportunity to be heard in person so

18  people can directly look at him and frankly judge his

19  credibility.

20        We are here for only one rule, and that is

21  Rule of Professional Conduct 4.2.  Respectfully, Bar

22  counsel talks about part of the rule, which is a general

23  prohibition for an attorney to communicate with an

24  opposing party who the attorney knows is represented by

25  counsel and there's an actual knowledge requirement.
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1        And that's one of the key things that will be

2  discussed here today, is whether or not given the context

3  of what was going and the subject of what Mr. Harsh was

4  communicating to Ms. Sei in a single letter; if that is a

5  violation of Rule of Professional Conduct 4.2.

6        Bar counsel is correct that we will of course

7  all be hearing from witnesses.  And Mr. Werner, who is

8  the grievant, in other words, the person who reported

9  Mr. Harsh to the Bar, and has perhaps his own motivations

10  to do so, the evidence will show that Mr. Werner's

11  communications as to who he was representing and what he

12  was doing in the capacity of what he was doing is far

13  from clear, was far from clear at the time to Mr. Harsh.

14        In fact, Mr. Harsh thought, as the evidence

15  will show, that Mr. Werner was functioning as what's

16  known as coverage counsel where the attorney representing

17  the Hartford not the attorney representing Ms. Sei.

18        Another witness who the Bar we expect is

19  calling is the Hartford claims professional handling this

20  matter:  Ms. Baarson, who herself may have her own

21  motivations for how she may choose to characterize things

22  because an insurance company should not be having the

23  same lawyer both opining on coverage issues and

24  affirmatively representing the insurance company while at

25  the same time purportedly providing a defense.  That's

Harsh ROA 186



Page 11
1  ethically not permitted.  And that's important when one

2  considers what the viewpoint was of Mr. Harsh.

3        Another witness that you'll hear from, of

4  course, is Mr. Harsh himself.  And again, this is

5  Mr. Harsh's opportunity to be heard, for all of the panel

6  members to look at him and understand the context and

7  determine the credibility.

8        Other witnesses who the Bar has elected not

9  to call and who we are seeking to call are Ms. Sei

10  herself and whether or not she even thought Mr. Werner

11  was representing her.

12        Another witness that we are seeking to call

13  and we expect to call -- and by the way, we subpoenaed

14  these witnesses just for the record -- is Mr. Chris

15  Turtzo because Mr. Chris Turtzo was the defense lawyer

16  who in fact was engaged by the Hartford once a complaint

17  was filed to defend Ms. Sei.  Mr. Turtzo can help provide

18  additional context.

19        And indeed, we think that at the end of this

20  matter, what the panel will see when we see the context

21  of what was occurring is that Mr. Harsh did not know that

22  Ms. Sei was represented by Mr. Werner if in fact she ever

23  was.

24        And if the panel is looking to see that there

25  should be anything done, there's also Rule 6.34 which can
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1  apply to having an admonition.  In other words, the Bar's

2  suggested remedy, if you will, and it's not really a

3  remedy.  It's a punishment.  This discipline that's

4  suggested is not appropriate under the facts as will be

5  demonstrated.  Instead, if there is not just a simple

6  dismissal, then 6.34, which we'll discuss later on, which

7  essentially is a letter of caution, would be appropriate.

8  So obviously, everyone participating appreciates the time

9  and effort that's being expended in this matter, and we

10  look forward to presenting our case.

11        CHAIR STOVALL:  Thank you very much,

12  Mr. Moore.

13        Ms. Flocchini, call your first witness.

14        MS. FLOCCHINI:  Thank you, Chair.  The Bar

15  calls Reed Werner to testify.

16        Good morning, Mr. Werner.  Can you hear us?

17        MR. WERNER:  I can now.  Yes.

18        MS. FLOCCHINI:  Okay.  Great.

19        CHAIR STOVALL:  Excellent, Mr. Werner.  My

20  name is Eric Stovall.  I'm the panel chair.  Would you

21  please raise your right hand to take the oath.

22

23             REED WERNER,

24       having been first duly sworn, was

25        examined and testified as follows:
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1

2        CHAIR STOVALL:  Go ahead.

3

4              DIRECT EXAMINATION

5  BY MS. FLOCCHINI:

6      Q   Thank you.  Mr. Werner, can you -- I want to

7  give the panel just some basic information about your

8  experience as an attorney.  What year were you licensed

9  in?

10      A   First licensed in 2004.

11      Q   And in what state were you licensed?

12      A   I was first licensed in Nevada in 2004.

13      Q   And are you licensed to practice law in any

14  other states?

15      A   California.  I took the California Bar in

16  2010.

17      Q   And where are you employed?

18      A   I work for the law offices of Eric Larsen,

19  which is a division of the Hartford or in-house counsel

20  for the Hartford.

21      Q   And how long have you worked at Mr. Larsen's

22  office?

23      A   Since December of 2017.

24      Q   Did you work as in-house counsel anywhere

25  else prior to working for Mr. Larsen's office?
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1      A   I worked for about five years for the

2  Nationwide in-house, Ken Goates' office.

3      Q   Okay.  And you've referenced that although

4  you're officially at Mr. Larsen's office that you're

5  in-house for an insurance company, the Hartford.  Could

6  you explain to us what it means to be in-house counsel,

7  please.

8      A   Sure.  So in-house counsel for an insurance

9  company, you defend insureds of the company as in

10  lawsuits that are filed against them, you're on salary

11  for the insurance company, so you get paid, you know, I

12  think twice a month or something like that every month.

13  You just receive new files from them.  You don't have to

14  go out and market.  You don't have to go bill the

15  clients.  You just receive files that come in and you

16  have to, you know, handle whatever task is assigned to

17  you.  That's basically it.

18      Q   And who do you represent in the matters that

19  you handle?

20      A   The insureds.  So depending on, you know,

21  what case it is, it could be a company, it could be an

22  individual.  It would just be whoever had a lawsuit filed

23  against them.  That's what I do.

24      Q   Okay.  And do you record your time like, you

25  know, a normal law firm?  Do you do billable hours, so to
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1  speak?

2      A   We do, but it's not the same as a normal law

3  firm.  There's recess detail required, but they do put

4  time in so that it can be tracked in case of a potential

5  recovery on an offer of judgment or if there's some other

6  issue that needs to be addressed with the Court, then you

7  have something to go back and you're not just guessing.

8      Q   And do you do work for -- Are you assigned

9  work or do you get retained by anyone besides the

10  insureds that come from the Hartford?

11      A   No.  I mean, I can do outside work only upon

12  approval of my supervisor.  And generally, that is only

13  for pro bono work and so that's --

14      Q   Okay.  So there's been some reference in this

15  case to another attorney that also represented Ms. Sei.

16  Mr. Turtzo.  And is he in-house counsel also?

17      A   No.  He works at what we call a panel firm.

18      Q   Okay.  And explain to me what the difference

19  is between what you as in-house counsel do for a Hartford

20  insured and what outside counsel does for Hartford

21  insured?

22      A   It's mostly the same kind of work.  You're

23  defending the insured in the lawsuit.  The biggest

24  difference is there's a separation because the outside

25  law firm represents them and has a separate business.
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1  They're not part of the insurance company, and so there's

2  a separation there.

3        Usually, an outside law firm like that, you

4  know, there is a big pressure on attorneys to bill as

5  many hours as they can to try and generate fees for the

6  firm and that's how they're compensated.  At an inside an

7  in-house counsel firm, you are trying to represent the

8  insured, but you don't have that same pressure of trying

9  to bill as many hours as possible because if I bill 5,000

10  hours a year or, you know, 1,800 hundred hours a year, it

11  doesn't matter.  I get paid the same.  It's the same

12  salary.

13      Q   So the outside counsel tracks their time and

14  submits bills to be paid, right?

15      A   Yes.

16      Q   And do you know who pays that bill?

17      A   The Hartford.  In this case, it would be the

18  Hartford.  But whoever the insurer is.

19      Q   Okay.  In your work for the Hartford, how

20  many insureds have you defended as in-house counsel?

21      A   I would say hundreds at this point.

22      Q   And while working at the Hartford, have you

23  ever been asked to issue a coverage opinion?

24      A   No.

25      Q   And let's back up a second.  What is your
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1  understanding of what a coverage opinion is?

2      A   A coverage opinion is when you are asked to

3  review the insurance policy and determine if -- Well, it

4  could be a number of things, but obviously, you're trying

5  to figure out if there is -- if that specific policy A

6  has been complied with, like I've seen some coverage

7  disputes where the person either lied on their

8  application, didn't pay the premiums, or those kind of

9  issues, or they're lately, there's been a bunch of news

10  in the chatter about coverage opinions relating to

11  business interruption and whether COVID-19 claims are

12  going to be covered in those losses.  I've heard stories

13  about that.  I've seen news articles and news stories on

14  it.  But those are coverage-type opinions where someone

15  is determining whether or not something is covered by the

16  policy and whether the policy has or the specific terms

17  of the policy have been complied with.

18      Q   Okay.  And let me just ask again.  Have you

19  ever been asked by the Hartford to issue a coverage

20  opinion?

21      A   No.  No.

22      Q   And have you ever offered a coverage opinion

23  to the Hartford?

24      A   No.

25      Q   So getting to the more specific facts that
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1  apply to this particular matter, you were assigned to

2  represent Sandra Sei as an insured of the Hartford,

3  right?

4      A   That is correct.

5      Q   And when you received the assignment, what

6  did you do?

7      A   So when the assignment came in, I read the

8  information that I got relating to the assignment.  A

9  letter was sent to Ms. Sei.  I don't have a specific

10  recollection of it, but usually, I call the insured and

11  say:  "Hey, guess what?  I'm representing you.  What do

12  you remember about the incident itself so that I can get

13  some background facts?"

14        I usually call the insurance adjustor and

15  talk to them about any issues that, you know:  "Why is

16  this coming to me?  You know, what's going on?  What's

17  the issue?  Are you fighting about liability or are you

18  fighting about damages?  Are you fighting about, you

19  know, something else?  What's the issue?  Why is it

20  coming to me?"  Because a lot of claims get resolved

21  before going to lawyers.  They get resolved.

22        Somebody says, "I want you to fix my car" or

23  they say "Well, here's the auto body shop repair or here

24  here's the invoice done.  It's not that big a deal.  No

25  attorneys are involved in that as far as I understand.
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1  But if somebody comes and says, you know, "I injured my

2  finger, I want a million dollars," that might be a

3  dispute on amount on value.

4        And so then they, you know, people will

5  evaluate what's the issue with the finger?  Is it like it

6  was a small paper cut?  That's not a million-dollar case

7  in my estimation.  But, you know, if it's a fracture and

8  like they could never use the finger again, maybe that's

9  worth more money.  It just depends on the facts and

10  circumstances of the case.

11      Q   Okay.  So you communicated with Ms. Sei and

12  then you communicated with the adjustor, right?

13      A   Yes.

14      Q   And is the adjustor Ms. Baarson?

15      A   Yeah.  Kat Baarson.

16      Q   Okay.  And what was the scope of your

17  assignment in this particular matter?

18      A   So when the case came over, it was my

19  understanding that settlement negotiations had been

20  ongoing with the plaintiff's office.  There were some

21  letters back and forth that I read that talked about, you

22  know, like offers of settlement, so it was my

23  understanding that we needed to see if we could finalize

24  a settlement, or if not, then I could give an evaluation

25  on what did I see with this case as far as like what are
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1  the issues.

2        In this case, it's my understanding that

3  Ms. Sei struck the plaintiff in a crosswalk while that

4  person had the walk signal.  I wouldn't be fighting on

5  liability on that.  I don't see any angle for liability.

6  The question would be what are the damages and what is

7  related and what's not.

8        It was my understanding that -- at least the

9  way I understand it, they were trying to settle

10  Mr. Clements' claim for the $100,000 policy.  It was my

11  understanding that Mr. Clements had been injured.  I was

12  trying to figure out what extent of injuries he had

13  because there was sort of conflicting information in the

14  file, so I wanted to see what was the extent of the

15  injury.  I talked to Mr. Harsh, who informed me that

16  Mr. Clements had been paralyzed, which raised a huge

17  concern to me if they weren't going to accept the

18  $100,000 policy limit.

19      Q   And then there was a second claimant, right?

20      A   There was a second claimant that was also

21  Ms. Clements.  She was -- Mr. Harsh communicated to me

22  she was making a negligent infliction of emotional

23  distress claim, so I asked Mr. Harsh, you know, some

24  questions relating to her claim to see, you know, could

25  she meet the criteria in Nevada for a negligent
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1  infliction of emotional distress claim.

2        And there was, you know, I was trying to get

3  information relating to both of those claims.  I was

4  trying to see if we could settle Mr. Clements' claim for

5  the policy limit.  Mr. Harsh said no, we can't do that

6  unless you pay policy limit also for Ms. Clements.  And

7  so, you know, at that point, or in very short order, the

8  negotiations broke down.  Mr. Harsh informed me they

9  would be filing suit and they did so.

10      Q   Okay.  Let me back us up for a second.  You

11  communicated with Mr. Harsh; correct?

12      A   Yes.  I talked to him on the phone as well as

13  on email.

14        MS. FLOCCHINI:  Okay.  And I'm going to show

15  you Exhibit 5, I hope.  My camera is hiding my menu.  I

16  apologize.

17        CHAIR STOVALL:  Does Mr. Werner have Exhibit

18  5?  Are you seeing Exhibit 5?

19        CHAIR STOVALL:  The December 18th, 2020

20  letter?  Yes.

21        MS. FLOCCHINI:  Okay.  And are you seeing

22  only that or do you see my whole screen?

23        CHAIR STOVALL:  Well, I see that and I also

24  see a screen and I also see faces along the sidebar.

25      Q   (BY MS. FLOCCHINI:)  Okay.  The reason why I
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1  ask is that I have one of those split screens, so I can't

2  tell what the screen is showing you.  But as long as

3  everyone can see a copy of the December 18th letter,

4  which has been marked as Exhibit 5, then I think we're

5  good.  Thank you.

6        Mr. Werner, I'm showing you what's been

7  marked as Exhibit 5.  Do you recognize it?

8      A   It looks like a letter that would have been

9  sent by my office by me.

10      Q   Okay.  This is a letter that -- it has just

11  an S slash signature, but it's a letter that you

12  prepared; correct?

13      A   Yes.

14      Q   And to whom is the letter sent?

15      A   To Brent Harsh.

16      Q   Okay.  And what is the subject matter of the

17  letter?

18      A   This was a letter I sent to him relating to

19  the Sandra Sei claim.  His clients are David Clements and

20  Sheila Clements, and we are -- I basically was talking

21  about the demand letter and trying to resolve the claim.

22      Q   Okay.  And so you identify that his clients

23  are or the plaintiffs are David and Sheela Clements;

24  correct?

25      A   Yes.
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1      Q   And who do you identify as your client on

2  whose behalf you're communicating?

3      A   Sandra Sei.

4      Q   Okay.  You sent this letter by -- Did you

5  send this one by U.S. mail or by email?  Do you know?

6      A   I know that my office sent him a letter by

7  mail, and then Mr. Harsh also emailed me and said he

8  wanted to talk about the case, and so I pulled a version

9  of the letter off the Internet and emailed it to him.

10      Q   Okay.  Did the document that you see on your

11  screen change?

12      A   Yeah.  You're now showing an email from me to

13  Brent saying Brent, here's the letter I sent you on

14  Friday.  I need information on the claim.

15      Q   Okay.  And this -- just for the record

16  purposes, this email that you were just reading to us has

17  been marked as Exhibit 7 to the hearing.  And so you told

18  us this is the email that you sent attaching that

19  particular letter identifying Ms. Sei as your client,

20  right?

21      A   Yes.

22      Q   Okay.  And I'm just going to pull Exhibit 5

23  back up.  In this letter, you ask particular questions;

24  correct?

25      A   Yes.
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1      Q   Okay.  And why did you ask the questions that

2  are in the letter that is marked as Exhibit 5?

3      A   I was asking questions relating to the claims

4  being made, specifically the claims being made by Sheela

5  Clements.

6      Q   Okay.  And what were you trying to figure out

7  by asking those questions?

8      A   I was trying to figure out what evidence

9  there was to support a claim for negligent infliction of

10  emotional distress.

11      Q   Okay.  Is it fair to say you were evaluating

12  liability and/or damages related to Ms. Clements' claim?

13      A   Yes.

14      Q   I will stop the sharing.  Mr. Werner, during

15  the time that you were representing Ms. Sei on this

16  claim, did you ever look at her insurance policy that the

17  Hartford issued?

18      A   No.

19      Q   Did you ever tell Mr. Harsh that you thought

20  Ms. Clements' claims weren't covered by Ms. Sei's

21  insurance policy?

22      A   No.

23      Q   You had indicated that there was some

24  correspondence back and forth about trying to resolve

25  Mr. Clements' claim and maybe Ms. Sei's claim and/or

Harsh ROA 200



Page 25
1  evaluate that claim.  Did you ever make an offer of

2  settlement for Ms. Clements' claim?

3      A   I don't believe I ever offered it on her

4  claim.  I was still trying to reach an evaluation on

5  that.

6      Q   Okay.  Did you ever tell Mr. Harsh that you

7  were not going to be offering something to try to settle

8  Ms. Clements' claim?

9      A   No, I don't believe we had that conversation.

10  We were just talking about I was trying to gather

11  information about her claim to see what was there to

12  support it.  And then I was also trying, if I could, to

13  resolve Mr. Clements' claim.

14      Q   Okay.  Were you asked to opine on whether or

15  not Ms. Sei had coverage for the Clements' claims?

16      A   No.

17      Q   What effect -- if you had been asked to opine

18  about such coverage -- what effect would that have had on

19  your representation of Ms. Sei?

20      A   So the adjustors are trained not to try and

21  ask staff counsel for coverage opinions.  If they ever

22  were to ask me for a coverage opinion, I would decline to

23  offer such an opinion because it would create a conflict

24  of interest.  It just does.  You can't represent someone

25  that you're now saying well, maybe I shouldn't cover your
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1  claim.  That just doesn't work.

2      Q   Okay.  So you and Mr. Harsh had discussions

3  about the claims.  And how did those discussions end?

4      A   Mr. Harsh said we're going to file suit, and

5  he sent me an emailed copy of a complaint that he was

6  filing on behalf of the Clements against Ms. Sei.  And he

7  said we're going to proceed with the lawsuit.

8      Q   Okay.  And did you receive a copy of the

9  filed complaint?

10      A   I can't remember if the copy that Brent sent

11  me was filed or not.  I think it was not, but it might

12  have been.  But then I also got a copy from Ms. Sei.  She

13  sent me a copy of the complaint that had been filed and

14  served on her.

15      Q   Okay.  I'm going to try to pull up an

16  exhibit.  I am sharing what's been marked as admitted

17  Exhibit 11.  It's two pages, so it's currently showing

18  the first of the two pages.  Do you recognize the email

19  that's in the center here from Mr. Harsh?

20      A   Yeah.  It looks like an email that he sent to

21  me.  Yes.

22      Q   And what was he providing to you through this

23  email?

24      A   It says he's sending me a proof of service

25  that the complaint had been served, and he says I'll send
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1  a complaint later in another email.

2      Q   And I'm going to scroll down.  This is the

3  second page of Exhibit 11.  Is this another email that

4  you recognize?

5      A   It looks like an email that he sent to me.

6  It just says:  "For your records," so I don't know.

7      Q   Do you see any attachments referenced in the

8  email?

9      A   Oh, it looks like it says -- it's hard to

10  read, but it looks like it says "Plaintiff's complaint"

11  and something else, image.  I'm not sure if the other

12  image would be something like his logo or something.  I

13  don't know.  But it looks like it says there's something

14  that's attached.

15      Q   Could this have been an email by which he

16  provided the complaint to you?

17      A   Yeah.  I mean, like I said, he definitely

18  sent me a copy of the complaint.  I don't remember if it

19  was the file-stamped copy or not.  I just don't.  Sorry.

20      Q   Okay.  And the reason why we're all here is

21  because there was an extra letter that was attached to

22  the complaint that was served on Ms. Sei.  Did Mr. Harsh

23  provide you a copy of that letter?

24      A   No.

25      Q   How did you receive a copy of that letter?
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1      A   When Ms. Sei sent me a copy of the complaint

2  that she received.  If I remember correctly, she faxed it

3  to me and she attached to that a letter from Mr. Harsh to

4  Ms. Sei recommending that she hire counsel and pursue a

5  claim against the Hartford specifically.

6      Q   Okay.  And I'm going to share what's been

7  marked as Exhibit 10 and already admitted into the

8  hearing.  Do you recognize this letter?

9      A   Yeah.  This is the letter that he attached to

10  the complaint when it was served recommending that she

11  contact these attorneys to bring a claim against the

12  Hartford, I believe.

13      Q   Okay.  And you only received this letter from

14  Ms. Sei not from Miss Harsh -- Mr. Harsh, right?

15      A   Yeah.  Mr. Harsh did not send this letter to

16  me.  I received it from Ms. Sei, and I was kind of

17  surprised because generally, I understand the rule to be

18  you do not contact represented parties.  So I was

19  surprised that he would have sent a letter to my client

20  saying hey, you should consider suing somebody.

21      Q   Okay.  And then so after the complaint was

22  filed, you didn't file the answer to the complaint,

23  right?

24      A   I did not.

25      Q   Another lawyer did?
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1      A   Yes, Mr. Turtzo filed an answer to the

2  complaint as far as I understand.

3      Q   Okay.  And why didn't you continue

4  representing Ms. Sei in the claim?

5      A   So when we received the complaint and it was

6  going to go forward, I contacted Ms. Baarson and I said

7  to her there has been information provided to me that

8  showed Mr. Clements is paralyzed as a result of this

9  claim.

10        In my personal evaluation, that is going to

11  exceed the $100,000 policy limit that this insured has,

12  and that presents a conflict of interest for staff

13  counsel continuing to represent the claim, and so this

14  needs to be sent out to panel counsel to defend.

15      Q   Okay.  So it was the potential damages

16  related to Mr. Clements' claim that led you to recommend

17  that the matter be handled by panel counsel?

18      A   Yeah.  Whether Ms. Clements' claims were

19  legitimate or illegitimate didn't matter to me because

20  Mr. Clements' claims alone would have exceeded the policy

21  limit in my evaluation.

22        MS. FLOCCHINI:  Okay.  Mr. Werner, those are

23  all of the questions that I have for you.  I thank you

24  for taking the time to participate in the hearing.  I

25  know Mr. Moore may have questions for you on behalf of
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1  Mr. Harsh, and of course our panel members may have

2  questions also, so I pass.

3        CHAIR STOVALL:  Your witness, Mr. Moore.

4

5             CROSS-EXAMINATION

6  BY MR. MOORE:

7      Q   Thank you.  Mr. Werner, have you, in your

8  career, having worked for a few different insurance

9  companies, ever conducted an examination under oath?

10      A   Did you say examination under oath?

11      Q   Yes.

12      A   And the answer is yes, I have.

13      Q   All right.  And for those people who might

14  not understand what an examination under oath is, is it

15  an examination of an insured in order to obtain facts

16  regarding a claim?

17      A   It is exactly that.  Yes.  You're trying to

18  -- it's like a deposition where you're swearing the

19  witness to take, you know, tell the truth and you're

20  asking them about facts about their specific claim.

21      Q   And you've done that for the Hartford;

22  correct?

23      A   I have.

24      Q   And is it therefore true that there are

25  instances where you have represented the Hartford
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1  directly; correct?

2      A   I have represented the Hartford directly in a

3  couple of or several instances, some of which are

4  subrogation and some of them are UIM or UM claims that

5  are being made.  And for the panel, UM is or UIM is

6  underinsured motorists and UM uninsured motorists.

7      Q   And of course the purpose of that kind of

8  claim does deal with coverage; correct?

9      A   I wouldn't ever offer a coverage opinion.

10  What I would -- I'm hired to do in those instances or

11  tasked to do is to provide a value for the claim.  So

12  oftentimes, the insured is making a claim, and those

13  claims, the issue is value.  What is the value of that

14  claim?

15      Q   Would you agree that if you're talking about

16  the value of a claim, you are talking about the amount of

17  money that the insured should receive?

18      A   Yes.  You're talking about the money or value

19  that the insured's claim is worth.  Yes.

20      Q   So there are times when you do in fact

21  represent the Hartford and the purpose of your

22  representing the Hartford has to do with how much money

23  Hartford has to pay; correct?

24      A   I would say in almost every case, it's about

25  the amount of money that has to be paid.
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1      Q   Precisely.  And did you ever communicate to

2  Mr. Harsh that you never ever do any coverage work for

3  the Hartford?

4      A   I did not communicate that to Mr. Harsh.  He

5  never asked me that.  Mr. Harsh, in my experience, used

6  to be panel counsel or in-house counsel for Farmers for

7  many years.  That has been -- that was my understanding,

8  and so I know he knew that coverage work is not done by

9  in-house counsel or some people call it captive counsel.

10  It's just not done.

11      Q   And when you say that it's not done, are you

12  proffering yourself as an expert who knows what the

13  experience is across the Bar in all insurance companies?

14      A   I have not been asked to offer such an

15  opinion, but I can tell you in my experience that

16  coverage opinions are not offered by panel or by in-house

17  captive firms.  And I know that it was not done at

18  Nationwide.  It was not done at the Hartford.  And my

19  understanding is that other insurers don't have that

20  policy or have the same policy because it violates the

21  ethical rules that govern attorneys, and so it's not done

22  as a general rule.

23      Q   So you just used a qualifier, didn't you.

24  You said it's not done as a general rule.  Are you saying

25  that unequivocally, there never is a situation where
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1  in-house counsel opines on coverage?  Is that your

2  thought?

3      A   What I am saying -- and I said this at the

4  beginning of your question -- is I do not have knowledge

5  of every insurer and every policy in every insurance

6  company across the land.

7        It has been my experience in every insurance

8  company that I have dealt with and for which I have been

9  retained, there are separate attorneys that do coverage

10  opinions and that in-house captive counsel that does

11  defense insureds are not tasked with that activity.  And

12  the reason for that is because it would violate the

13  ethical rules and it would be a problem for them to offer

14  opinions that something is not covered and then be

15  defending that specific insured.

16        MR. MOORE:  Okay.

17        CHAIR STOVALL:  I'm going to stop this at

18  this point.  As I understand it -- and correct me,

19  Counsel, if I'm wrong -- Mr. Werner has not been tendered

20  as an expert witness.  He's a percipient witness only.

21  Let's just ask percipient witness questions.

22      Q   (BY MR. MOORE:)  Precisely.  And what I'm

23  doing is I'm finding out what Mr. Werner's experience has

24  been so we understand what the communication was like

25  with Mr. Harsh.
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1        Therefore, to be clear, Mr. Werner, you never

2  communicated to Mr. Harsh that you never do coverage

3  work.  Is that accurate?

4      A   Mr. Harsh never asked me if I was offering a

5  coverage opinion.  He never asked me anything like that.

6  He asked me like will I pay ex number of dollars.

7        CHAIR STOVALL:  I'm going to interrupt you

8  there, Mr. Werner.  I don't want you to give the answer

9  that you want to give.  I want you to answer the question

10  that counsel's asking.  Okay?  Just answer the questions

11  that you were asked.

12        Now, Mr. Moore, go ahead and ask your next

13  question.

14        MR. MOORE:  Your Honor, I don't think I got a

15  yes-or-no answer on that.

16        CHAIR STOVALL:  I don't think you did either.

17  You can ask the same question again if you wish.

18      Q   (BY MR. MOORE:)  Mr. Werner, is it true that

19  you never told Mr. Harsh that you never do coverage work?

20      A   Is that true?  I never told him that.  Yes,

21  that is true.  I never told him that I don't do coverage

22  work.

23      Q   We're going to take a look at what's been

24  admitted into evidence.  It's an Exhibit 4.  And so I'm

25  going to see if I can have technology work.  I'm going to
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1  stop the video that I have and I'm going to go to Exhibit

2  4.

3        And, Mr. Werner, do you have exhibits there

4  in front of you or do we have to rely on what you see on

5  the screen?

6      A   I don't have any exhibits here, but I could

7  probably find them on my computer if I need to.

8      Q   I don't think that's necessary.  I'm just

9  trying to find out what's the most efficient for everyone

10  here.  Is Exhibit 4 a document that you recall?

11      A   Yeah, I've seen this document before.  Yes.

12      Q   And would it be accurate to characterize

13  Exhibit 4 as a letter that you will often send to someone

14  who you have been asked to work with by the Hartford?

15      A   Yeah.  I would call it a letter of

16  representation or a communication to the client that we

17  have been retained to defend them or represent them in a

18  claim or a lawsuit.

19      Q   Looking at that letter, are the words letter

20  of representation anywhere on the letter?

21      A   I don't remember, but I don't necessarily see

22  them.  I don't see the whole letter, but I don't know.

23      Q   All right.  Panel members have the ability to

24  study correspondence here and exhibits, so we can

25  continue.
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1        Mr. Werner, let me take a step back.  This

2  letter that is marked as Exhibit 4 and the Bar has

3  previously introduced into evidence for the purposes of

4  this hearing, is that a letter?  Do you know how that got

5  to the Bar?

6      A   How the Bar obtained this letter?

7      Q   Yes.

8      A   I believe they asked me if there was a letter

9  of representation sent to the client and I gave it to

10  them.

11      Q   When you gave that letter of representation

12  to what you're calling your client, did you ask your

13  client for permission to do so?

14      A   Did I ask my client for permission to do

15  what?  Send her a letter?

16      Q   Did you ask your client -- Well, let's take a

17  step back.  Would you consider this letter ordinarily a

18  privileged communication?

19      A   Yes.

20      Q   All right.  And to be clear, you would

21  consider it a privileged communication because it is a

22  communication between you as an attorney and the person

23  who you're contending here is your client, Ms. Sei.  Is

24  that correct?  That's why there's a privilege?

25      A   Yes.
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1      Q   And who holds that privilege?  Do you hold

2  the privilege or does Ms. Sei hold the privilege?

3      A   Ms. Sei holds the privilege.

4      Q   And if the privilege is going to be waived,

5  therefore, can you waive the privilege by yourself or

6  does Ms. Sei have to waive the privilege?

7      A   Generally, Ms. Sei would have to waive the

8  privilege.

9      Q   Correct.  And if Ms. Sei has not given you

10  permission to send a letter to a third party, how is that

11  not a violation by you of her privilege?

12      A   There is nothing confidential or secret in

13  this letter.  There's nothing in here that reveals any

14  specific facts about the case other than the date in

15  which it occurred, and so --

16      Q   Mr. Werner?

17      A   Yes.  Yes, sir.

18      Q   Are you basically saying no harm no foul?

19      A   What I'm saying is I raised this specific

20  issue with the Bar and asked them:  Am I allowed to

21  actually produce it to you in this case absent a

22  subpoena?  And they said it doesn't appear to have any

23  confidential information or it doesn't -- unless it has

24  confidential information in it, you can produce it.

25      Q   So your testimony is that when you send a
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1  letter to someone who you say is a client, that does not

2  contain confidential information.  Is that what you're

3  saying?

4        MS. FLOCCHINI:  Objection.  Beyond the scope

5  of prior testimony.

6        CHAIR STOVALL:  Well, look.  This is not the

7  time or place to try to determine whether or not

8  Mr. Werner violated client confidence, so I am not seeing

9  the relevance.

10        MR. MOORE:  Your Honor, the relevance has to

11  do with this.  If Mr. Werner is contending that Ms. Sei

12  was his client and we are entitled to find out how he was

13  communicating with her and how he's treating her even to

14  this day, and when we have a letter that is privileged

15  that is being disseminated without the person who upholds

16  the privilege, ostensibly Ms. Sei, that is relevant.

17        MS. FLOCCHINI:  The Bar would also --

18  continues the objection to the argument that it's

19  irrelevant to the issue in this disciplinary proceeding.

20        CHAIR STOVALL:  Okay.  I'm going to rule that

21  it's irrelevant.  Move on.

22      Q   (BY MR. MOORE:)  Okay.  I can certainly move

23  on, Your Honor.  In this letter, do you ever say to

24  Ms. Sei that you represent her?

25      A   Let me look at the letter.  I believe that
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1  would be the communication.  I don't know that it

2  specifically says that, but it says that we have -- that

3  we were -- that we are defending her or will defend her

4  in a lawsuit if one is filed.  So I think the

5  communication -- I don't know if those specific words are

6  used, but I believe that we are communicating to her that

7  we would be representing her or defending her interests

8  in this claim.

9      Q   And I appreciate Mr. Werner talking about

10  what you believe.  What we're trying to do is find out

11  how you use language and how that --

12        CHAIR STOVALL:  Counsel, this is beyond the

13  scope of the charges against Mr. Harsh.  It doesn't

14  matter how Mr. Werner uses language.  What matters is

15  whether or not he represents Ms. Sei.  He said he did.

16  He sent a letter and the letter speaks for itself.

17        It looks to me like he's saying he's

18  representing her.  He's just testified he represented

19  her.  It doesn't matter what other -- beyond that, I

20  don't see any relevance.

21        MR. MOORE:  Your Honor, what we're doing is

22  we're talking about the choice of words that Mr. Werner

23  uses when he's communicating, and those choice of words

24  have an impact on the recipient.  And this is an example

25  of our being able to show that in the context of when
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1  he's communicating when we would think that a

2  communication should be clear, even in a letter that's

3  being sent to the purported client, there is ambiguity

4  even in that.

5        And we will then continue when we talk about

6  the communication between Mr. Werner and Mr. Harsh how

7  there's those ambiguities.  So respectfully, that is the

8  relevance there.  I can certainly move on, Your Honor.

9        CHAIR STOVALL:  Okay.  I appreciate your

10  response, Mr. Moore.  I understand what you're saying,

11  but this isn't whether -- this hearing is not about

12  whether Mr. Werner is a good communicator or not, whether

13  his letters are ambiguous or not.  He's stated he

14  represented her.  This letter was sent, he says, to let

15  her know he represented her.  And that's as far as we

16  need to go as far as relevance.  And thank you.

17        Go ahead and move on.

18        MR. MOORE:  And for the record, if I may,

19  Your Honor, when you say "move on," there are other

20  portions of the letter where we think that there are

21  inaccuracies.  Is the instruction to move on I cannot

22  discuss those inaccuracies?

23        CHAIR STOVALL:  Well, if the letter is --

24  like I said, this case is not about whether or not

25  Mr. Werner's letter is accurate or not.  This is about
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1  whether or not Mr. Werner was representing Ms. Sei.  He

2  was either her counsel or not.  And I've been very

3  sympathetic to the idea that if he really didn't

4  represent Ms. Sei, this case has a whole different

5  complexion.

6        He's testified he does.  Whether or not his

7  letter is ambiguous or whether or not it is accurate, he

8  says he represented her.  He sent her this letter that he

9  says was to communicate that fact to him to Ms. Sei, and

10  that's as far as I think we need to go into this letter.

11  So right.  I don't think any further -- trying to find

12  inaccuracies in the letter -- unless it goes to the heart

13  of whether or not he's representing her or not or

14  communicated his representation to her or not, I'm going

15  to rule it as irrelevant.

16        MR. MOORE:  And I appreciate that, and I'm

17  going to focus on what the Chair just said.

18  Communicated.  And respectfully, I think that's the issue

19  in this case:  What was communicated.

20        CHAIR STOVALL:  It's not just what was

21  communicated.  It's whether or not his representation was

22  communicated.  And maybe he didn't say things that you

23  think are accurate or not, but it has to go to the heart

24  of the matter is representation.  Anything else of you is

25  irrelevant, so if you have questions about whether or not

Harsh ROA 217



Page 42
1  this letter communicated representation, go ahead.

2      Q   (BY MR. MOORE:)  And that's respectfully what

3  I was trying to do.

4        CHAIR STOVALL:  Okay.

5      Q   (BY MR. MOORE:)  And right now, when we talk

6  about your communication and your word choice -- and,

7  Mr. Werner, generally speaking, as an attorney, you agree

8  that word choice is important.  Words have meaning?

9      A   Yes, I agree word choice has meaning.  Words

10  have meaning.  Yes.

11      Q   And you can appreciate how clarity of

12  communication can be important; is that right?

13      A   I do agree that clarity is important.

14      Q   All right.  And the letter that you sent out,

15  is this basically a form letter, by the way?

16      A   It sure is.

17      Q   Okay.  And in fact, there are portions in the

18  letter you agree where it's referring to quote, "your

19  company," closed quote, but this wasn't a matter

20  involving the company, was it?

21      A   No.  I don't believe there was any company

22  involved.  It's a form letter.  It goes out to every

23  single client on every single case.

24      Q   All right.  And when you sent the letter out,

25  did you know there was a question of which insurance
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1  policy limit would apply in this case?

2        MS. FLOCCHINI:  Objection.  Relevancy.

3        MR. MOORE:  May I be heard?

4        CHAIR STOVALL:  Go ahead and answer the

5  question.  I think it's relevant.

6        THE WITNESS:  Say the question again so I

7  remember.  Sorry.

8      Q   (BY MR. MOORE:)  When you sent this letter,

9  you knew that there was a question of what insurance

10  policy limit would apply in this case.  Is that right?

11      A   No.  Well, I didn't look at whether the

12  insurance policy would apply or not apply.  What I was

13  looking at was this was a person that was referred to my

14  office to represent, so I was looking at, you know, what

15  is the situation with liability and what is the situation

16  with damages.  If a case gets sent to me, there's some

17  fight about one or the other or both.

18      Q   And to be clear, you never sent Exhibit 4 to

19  Mr. Harsh, right?  Just to make sure we all know that.

20      A   I didn't send my letter of representation to

21  Mr. Harsh.  He didn't ask for it.  It would be -- he's

22  not my client.  He didn't have any reason to get it.  So

23  no, I didn't send it to him.

24      Q   Well, if you would have asked for it, would

25  you have provided it to him?
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1      A   I don't know why he would need it.

2      Q   If he had asked for this letter of

3  representation, as you call it, to Ms. Sei, would you

4  have provided it to Mr. Harsh?

5      A   I don't know.  He never asked for it.  I

6  didn't even think about it.  I haven't thought about it.

7  I don't know that I would send it to him because like I

8  said, it's a letter to my client, but I've never in my,

9  you know, 17 years of practice ever had anyone ask me can

10  I get a copy of your letter of representation until the

11  State Bar asked me for it in this hearing.

12      Q   All right.  So it would be very unusual for

13  an opposing attorney to ask for the letter of

14  representation.  Do you agree with that?

15      A   I would say it would be extremely unusual and

16  I don't know what purpose it could ever serve.

17      Q   Now there comes a point in time when you do,

18  according to your testimony -- well, let's take a step

19  back.  Did you earlier testify in this hearing that you

20  did not recall speaking to Ms. Sei?

21      A   I don't have a specific recollection of

22  speaking to Ms. Sei.  I believe I probably did because

23  that is my general practice, but I don't have a specific

24  recollection of that.

25      Q   And when you say you don't have a specific
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1  recollection, are we talking about not speaking to

2  Ms. Sei at any time?  You don't have any memory of

3  speaking to her at any time?

4      A   I don't remember speaking to her.  I am

5  fairly certain that I did because that is my general

6  practice, but I don't recall it.  And so, you know, I've

7  been sworn to tell the truth.  I've got to tell the

8  truth.  I don't remember it.

9      Q   You testified earlier that you never offered

10  any amount of money for Ms. Clements' claim; correct?

11      A   I don't recall offering any money for

12  Ms. Clements' claim.  That is correct.

13      Q   When you sent what's Exhibit 4 that we still

14  have on the screen to Ms. Sei, you copied Ms. Baarson.

15  Is that correct?

16      A   If you could go down to the last page, I can

17  see that.  I don't know.

18      Q   Sure.

19      A   It looks like it was copied to her.  Yes.

20      Q   All right.  And you copied Ms. Baarson

21  because she's the claims professional who is handling the

22  claim; correct?

23      A   Yeah.  She's the claims handler or claims

24  representative that is handling the claim.  Yes.

25      Q   And was there ever a point in time when you
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1  understood from Ms. Baarson that there was a question as

2  to what policy limit would apply?

3      A   If there was a question as to what policy

4  limit would apply?

5      Q   Yes.

6      A   She had informed me that she had offered the

7  $100,000 policy limit to Mr. Clements and that Mr. Harsh

8  had asked for a $100,000 policy limit for Ms. Clements.

9  And so it wasn't -- I don't know what you're trying to

10  ask.  She communicated to me that those were the

11  requests.  She asked me to look at liability and damages

12  in the case.  I did.

13      Q   All right.  So you've testified that damages

14  was an important thing that you were to trying to sort

15  out because that was a big part of your job; correct?

16      A   Trying to figure out what the damages was in

17  this case was something that was part of my job.  Yeah.

18      Q   Okay.  So yes.  So when we're looking at

19  Exhibit 3 that I've now brought up on the screen, is that

20  a document you recognize?

21      A   It appears to be -- what you've got on the

22  screen anyway is the first page of a letter, a demand

23  letter from Mr. Harsh.  Yes.

24      Q   And I'm going to move the pages, if that

25  helps refresh your memory.  I'm not trying to go too
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1  fast.  You can tell me if I need to slow down.  But does

2  that confirm your understanding that it is a letter from

3  Mr. Harsh?

4      A   Yeah, it's a letter from Mr. Harsh.

5      Q   And did you understand that it was a demand

6  letter?

7      A   It says so, so yeah.

8      Q   All right.  And so in that demand letter, do

9  you recall what Mr. Harsh's demand was?

10      A   I don't specifically recall it, but I would

11  assume based on past experience or now you showed me the

12  page that he was demanding $100,000 for each of his

13  clients.

14      Q   And when you received that demand letter and

15  that demand letter, it was fine for you for Ms. Baarson

16  to also receive it; is that correct?

17      A   I believe I received it not from Mr. Harsh,

18  but from Ms. Baarson.

19      Q   All right.  And --

20      A   I believe it's -- I believe it looks like

21  it's dated in November, and I don't believe I even had

22  the case assigned to me in November.

23      Q   When you became aware of the letter, the

24  demand letter, did you communicate the amount of the

25  demand to Ms. Sei who you say is your client?
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1      A   Ms. Sei was informed of this demand letter --

2        MS. FLOCCHINI:  I apologize.  Objection.

3  Relevancy.

4        MR. MOORE:  Respectfully, it does have to do

5  with how he is treating Ms. Sei if that's really his

6  client.

7        MS. FLOCCHINI:  Again, I'm not --

8        CHAIR STOVALL:  I disagree, Counsel.  This

9  isn't about whether Mr. Werner is an effective advocate

10  for his client.  It's about whether or not he represented

11  Ms. Sei.

12        MR. MOORE:  Agreed, Your Honor.  Agreed.

13        CHAIR STOVALL:  So I'm going to sustain the

14  objection.

15      Q   (BY MR. MOORE:)  You were asked questions

16  earlier, and I'm going to navigate to another document

17  you looked at earlier, Mr. Werner, pertaining to Exhibit

18  11.  And I'll just refresh.  And you see the letter

19  there, right?

20      A   Yeah.

21      Q   And there's a portion in Exhibit 11 --

22  whoops.  Sorry.  It shows you that I can't make this

23  technology work perfectly all the time myself.  Is there

24  a portion in Exhibit 11 where there's a request by

25  Mr. Harsh to you that you do something?
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1      A   The document says:  "Please have your

2  insured's personal counsel contact me."  Yes.

3      Q   And when you saw that request, what did you

4  do as a result of that, if anything?

5      A   That request.

6      Q   Yes.

7      A   There wasn't anything for me to do about

8  that.  At that point, the case had already been discussed

9  that it was going to go out to a panel firm and so there

10  wasn't anything for me to do to follow up on that.

11      Q   I think --

12      A   Mr. Turtzo I believe had already -- I don't

13  know if he had officially been retained yet, but I

14  believe he was being retained at that moment, and so he

15  would be now representing Ms. Sei and not me.

16      Q   And when the phrase is being used by

17  Mr. Harsh, your insureds, did you correct him by saying

18  you're referring to my client here?  Did you do anything

19  to correct that phrase?

20      A   I don't make it a personal habit of trying to

21  correct every inaccuracy or inappropriate reference in

22  every email that's sent to me.  That's just -- it would

23  be obnoxious to do that.  I try to treat people with

24  respect, and I would find it obnoxious if anybody wanted

25  to correct every single email that I sent.  I just don't
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1  think that's how you practice law.  Sorry.

2      Q   Do you see any value in trying to be very

3  clear at communicating who is representing who?

4      A   In a general case, everybody knows who is

5  representing who.  My letter specifically referenced my

6  client being Sandra Sei, so to me, that's already

7  communicated to Mr. Harsh.  He knows who I represent.

8  That's why it's included in the letter so that he knows

9  that's who I'm representing.  I'm not representing

10  someone else.  I'm representing Ms. Sei.  And I know he

11  represents the plaintiffs.  And so, you know --

12      Q   So let's do this.  Since you referred to --

13  you're referring to what we've marked as Exhibit 5, and I

14  also have a page because from your prior testimony, you

15  indicated that there was an initial draft letter that was

16  part of an email that you were trying to demonstrate to

17  Mr. Harsh, but what happened was you also sent a letter

18  through the mail.  And the letter is the same language in

19  large part, but they are different; correct?

20      A   The two letters you have up on the screen is

21  slightly different.  Not substantially different, but

22  they are slightly different.  Yes.

23      Q   Okay.  And you agree that anyone looking at

24  the letters would have seen that you had copied

25  Ms. Baarson; correct?  You see that there?

Harsh ROA 226



Page 51
1      A   There is a cc to Kat Baarson on both letters.

2  Yes.

3      Q   And do you see in the very first sentence you

4  -- and this, by the way, is your formal written

5  communication to Mr. Harsh; correct?

6      A   It is a letter I sent to Ms. Harsh and

7  Mr. Harsh.

8      Q   And so it's yes, right?

9      A   Yeah.  This is the letter that I sent to him.

10  Yes.

11      Q   And you see that the first sentence, it says:

12  "I am in receipt of your demand letter wherein you

13  confirm that David Clements' claims are resolved for the

14  $100,000 policy offer."  Is that an accurate statement?

15        MS. FLOCCHINI:  Objection.  Relevancy.

16        CHAIR STOVALL:  Counsel?

17        MR. MOORE:  It's relevant because it has to

18  do with what is being communicated between Mr. Harsh and

19  Mr. Werner and what Mr. Harsh's understanding is of what

20  Mr. Werner's role is in this matter.

21        CHAIR STOVALL:  That was not your question

22  though, Counsel.  Your question was about this particular

23  fact whether or not this hundred-dollar tender was

24  accurate or not.  So with respect to the objection, it's

25  sustained.
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1      Q   (BY MR. MOORE:) You've testified earlier that

2  it's important to try to be accurate, correct,

3  Mr. Werner?

4      A   Yeah, it is important to be accurate.

5      Q   And by the way, is this letter -- Is this

6  first created as part of a template form?

7        MS. FLOCCHINI:  Objection.  Relevancy.

8        MR. MOORE:  It has to do with how Mr. Werner

9  is communicating to Mr. Harsh because there are certain

10  things that are missing in the letter.

11        CHAIR STOVALL:  You know, this case is not

12  about whether or not Mr. Werner is using a template or

13  not, so I'm going to rule in favor of the objection.  I

14  sustain it.  Go ahead.

15      Q   (BY MR. MOORE:)  In the body of the letter,

16  do you agree that you do not state Ms. Sei is your

17  client?

18      A   It says it at the top of the letter, so I

19  don't think it needed to say it a second time in the

20  letter.

21      Q   We are hearing what you think, but my

22  question is different.  Do you agree that if one reads

23  the body of the letter, does it not state that Ms. Sei is

24  your client?

25      A   I don't read letters in isolation or try and
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1  piecemeal them out, so what do you want me to say?  It

2  doesn't say in the body of the --

3        CHAIR STOVALL:  Mr. Werner, what I would like

4  you to say is this a correct answer to the question to

5  the question you were asked.  Do you see, in the body of

6  either of these two letters, that you represent Ms. Sei?

7        THE WITNESS:  No.

8        CHAIR STOVALL:  Thank you.  Next question.

9      Q   (BY MR. MOORE:)  When you look at what you're

10  asking about in the body of the letter, do you agree that

11  the questions you're asking could impact the amount of

12  insurance coverage available to Ms. Sei?

13      A   No.

14      Q   You don't see that?  Okay.

15      A   It has nothing to do with coverage.  It has

16  everything to do with what is the liability situation and

17  what is the amount of damages.

18      Q   Can I ask the panel chair to please remind

19  the witness he's not an advocate and to please just

20  answer the questions?

21        CHAIR STOVALL:  Yeah.  I want direct answers

22  to the questions asked.  No editorial, no additional.  If

23  Ms. Flocchini wants to delve into some of those matters,

24  I'm sure she'll do it.  Next question.

25      Q   (BY MR. MOORE:)  We're going to shift on over
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1  to another exhibit, and I'm going to show you what's been

2  already admitted into evidence as Exhibit O.  And Exhibit

3  O, I'm just going to go through some of the pages

4  generally, Mr. Werner, because apparently, you don't have

5  the exhibits there in front of you.

6        Just to see generally if you recognize this

7  as an email string between you and Mr. Harsh.  And I

8  don't mean to be going fast, but hopefully, this gives

9  you an idea of what we're representing is accurate.

10      A   It appears to be the emails between Mr. Harsh

11  and myself.

12      Q   And to set the -- to have us understand, you

13  were communicating with Mr. Harsh on or about -- and by

14  the way, let's not be misled by the from and to because

15  that's what happens because you actually sent this email

16  string to Bar counsel through this earlier this year;

17  correct?

18      A   Yes.  Bar counsel asked for all

19  communications between Mr. Harsh and myself and I

20  provided them.

21      Q   And so when we want to look at what the date

22  was of the actual email, and I'm trying to Zoom in on

23  that, you agree we're talking about December 22 for at

24  least an email that I've blown up here; correct?

25      A   The one that -- yeah.  That says December 22,
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1  2020.

2      Q   All right.  And so what you had done is

3  provided Bar counsel an email string from that date.  Is

4  that correct?

5      A   Yeah, as far as I know.  I provided the

6  emails that I was able to locate between Mr. Harsh and

7  myself.

8      Q   All right.  And so you established that

9  emails between Mr. Harsh and yourself -- and if we take a

10  look at what for the record is Exhibit O, marked as State

11  Bar number 210 for the page number, do you see how on

12  Tuesday December 22nd as part of the communications, how

13  you refer to Ms. Sei?

14      A   I referred to her as my insured in that first

15  one.

16      Q   Precisely.  And of course that's a word that

17  you used, right?

18      A   It is the word I used in that email.  Yes.

19      Q   And do you agree that the meanings of the

20  words "my insured" and "my client" are different?

21      A   In this case, they're not, but yes, they

22  could be.

23      Q   Looking at -- Let me see if I can clear this

24  here.  And I'm going back to Exhibit O.  I was just

25  clearing what I had marked here.  You send -- again,
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1  Exhibit O, we're on page 208, and I'll see if I can blow

2  that up so it's a little easier.  You send an email to

3  Mr. Harsh where you say "Brent" and you used the pronoun

4  "we."  Correct?

5      A   It appears that I used the pronoun we.  Yes.

6      Q   Okay.  And do you agree that when you're

7  using the pronoun "we," we're referring to -- who you're

8  referring to is you and the Hartford?

9      A   I believe I'm referring to we as my office,

10  but --

11      Q   Well, in the context when you say:  We can

12  arrange an examination under oath but you indicated that

13  you instead planned to file tomorrow.  If your client

14  decides to accept the hundred thousand dollars offer let

15  me know, and I'll send over a release.  You're talking

16  about authority that's extended by the Hartford not

17  Ms. Sei.  Is that correct?

18      A   Ms. Sei is not offering personally any money.

19  The money would be coming from the Hartford.

20      Q   Correct.  Mr. Werner, did you in any email

21  exchange with Mr. Harsh use the word "client" to refer to

22  Ms. Sandra Sei?

23      A   The email of the letter that I sent to him

24  that said my client is Ms. Sei?  I don't know.  I haven't

25  looked at every single email, so I don't know if I used
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1  it any other way, but that's the one I can recall.

2      Q   That's not my question.  You just said in the

3  email that I quoted that says:  My client is Ms. Sei.  Is

4  there ever a sentence that says that?

5        MS. FLOCCHINI:  Objection.  Asked and

6  answered.

7        CHAIR STOVALL:  He's answered it.  Well, he

8  says he wasn't sure.  So the documents are going to speak

9  for themselves.  I'm sure he probably didn't unless

10  Ms. Flocchini is going to ask some questions and point it

11  out to her, so whatever the documents say or don't say is

12  what they say or don't say.

13      Q   (BY MR. MOORE:)  All right.  We're going to

14  take a look at another document here, which is Exhibit J.

15  And, Mr. Werner, are you able to see Exhibit J there?

16      A   I see it.

17      Q   And is that a document that you've seen

18  before?

19      A   I believe so.

20      Q   And is it true that when Ms. Sei sends

21  Mr. Harsh's letter with the summons and complaint, she

22  sends it to the Katharine Baarson not you?

23      A   It appears that way from this fax coverage

24  sheet.  I know I got it right away.

25      Q   But earlier, you testified that Ms. Sei sent
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1  it directly to you, didn't you?

2      A   I testified that we got it from Ms. Sei.  I

3  may have said she sent it directly to me.  Maybe I

4  thought that's what happened.  I don't recall all of the

5  specific details.  I know I got it right away.

6      Q   Do you see any inconsistency with Ms. Sei

7  sending the correspondence to Ms. Baarson instead of you

8  as her purported attorney?

9        MS. FLOCCHINI:  Objection.  Relevancy.  Calls

10  for speculation.

11        CHAIR STOVALL:  I don't think it matters what

12  Mr. Werner thinks about it, so I'm going to agree with

13  the objection.  Sustained.

14      Q   (BY MR. MOORE:)  All right.  I think you made

15  it clear, Mr. Werner, that under no circumstance would

16  you think it's appropriate for you to have been opining

17  on coverage.  That would adversely impact your client.

18  We agree on that.  Do we agree on that?

19      A   That I wouldn't opine on coverage?  Yeah, I

20  didn't offer an opinion coverage in this case.

21      Q   My question was different.  That it would be

22  inappropriate for you to opine on coverage.  Do you agree

23  on that?

24      A   Yeah.

25        MR. MOORE:  That's all the questions I have.
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1  Thank you.

2        CHAIR STOVALL:  Redirect?

3

4              REDIRECT EXAMINATION

5  BY MS. FLOCCHINI:

6      Q   Thank you.  I'm just looking for a particular

7  email so I can pull it up for everyone.  Mr. Werner, I've

8  pulled up what's been marked as Exhibit 5.  This is the

9  original letter, again, the original letter that you sent

10  to Mr. Harsh when you started communicating about

11  potential resolution of the Clements' claims.  Correct?

12      A   I believe so.

13      Q   And you were asking questions about the facts

14  surrounding Ms. Clements' claims; correct?

15      A   Yes.

16      Q   Locating another one.  The beauty of double

17  screens is I lose my mouse.  I am sharing the email

18  string that's been marked as Exhibit O with you.  I'm

19  scrolling down a bit to the email that you sent on

20  Tuesday, December 22nd, at 2:53 p.m.  Do you see that

21  email?

22      A   Yes.

23      Q   Are you referencing similar content in this

24  email as you referenced in your original letter?

25      A   I believe so.  Yes.
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1      Q   And specifically, what information were you

2  continuing to look for?

3      A   Claims relating to Ms. Clements' claim.

4  Issue or facts relating to Ms. Clements' claim.

5      Q   Okay.  And so between when you sent your

6  first letter and when you sent this email, you had not

7  received sufficient information, you thought, for your

8  evaluation; correct?

9      A   Right.  I was asking for more information.

10  Yes.

11        MS. FLOCCHINI:  Those are all of the

12  follow-up questions I had.  Thank you.

13        CHAIR STOVALL:  Mr. Werner, are you done with

14  Mr. Werner then?

15        MR. MOORE:  We are.  I have no questions

16  within the scope of that redirect.

17        CHAIR STOVALL:  Thank you.  We've been going

18  for, looks like about an hour and a half.  Let's take

19  about -- I've got to get -- it's 10:34 right now.  Let's

20  take about six minutes, and we'll resume back at 10:40.

21        THE WITNESS:  Am I released as a witness?

22        CHAIR STOVALL:  Yes, you are, Mr. Werner.

23  Thank you very much for your time.

24        THE WITNESS:  Okay.  Thank you.

25             (Recess.)
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1        CHAIR STOVALL:  Looks like everybody is back.

2  So call your next witness, Ms. Flocchini.

3        MS. FLOCCHINI:  Thank you, Chair.  The Bar

4  calls Ms. Katharine Baarson to testify.

5        MS. FLOCCHINI:  Thank you.  Ms. Baarson, can

6  you hear us?

7        THE WITNESS:  Yes, I can.

8        MS. FLOCCHINI:  Do you have video associated

9  with your device?

10        THE WITNESS:  It's playing.  I see the video.

11        MS. FLOCCHINI:  Okay.  We weren't seeing you,

12  but now we do.

13        THE WITNESS:  You may see little cats running

14  in the background.  My cats like to join me for meetings.

15        CHAIR STOVALL:  Ms. Baarson, we can put up

16  with cats, I'm sure.  My name is Eric Stovall.  I'm the

17  panel chair.  Would you please raise your right hand to

18  be sworn.

19

20            KATHARINE BAARSON,

21        having been first duly sworn, was

22        examined and testified as follows:

23

24        CHAIR STOVALL:  Go ahead, Counsel.

25
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1             DIRECT EXAMINATION

2  BY MS. FLOCCHINI:

3      Q   Good morning, Ms. Baarson.  Thank you for

4  appearing in this disciplinary proceeding.  I wanted to

5  give the panel a bit of background about you.  What is

6  your occupation?

7      A   My title is claim consultant for the

8  Hartford.

9      Q   Okay.  And how long have you done work as a

10  claim consultant or similar title/profession?

11      A   Forty-one years.

12      Q   And how long have you been a claim consultant

13  for the Hartford?

14      A   I returned to the Hartford in 2009.  I began

15  my career with the Hartford and I left over 40 years ago.

16      Q   Okay.  But so this current stint, you've been

17  with the Hartford for approximately 12 years?

18      A   You're taxing my brain right here.  Yes.

19      Q   Okay.  And are you assigned to a particular

20  state as a claims consultant for the Hartford?

21      A   I have multiple states.

22      Q   How many states do you handle?

23      A   Quite a few.  I could list them all or I

24  generally don't handle -- although I'm licensed for cases

25  on the East Coast, but probably from the Mississippi
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1  west.  I also handle Georgia, Louisiana.  I haven't had

2  any Alabama cases recently, but I'm also licensed in

3  Florida and Georgia.

4      Q   Okay.  Are there differences between the

5  states what kinds of claims are allowed by law?

6      A   Yes.

7      Q   And I don't mean like according to the

8  different policies but, you know, I mean, just as an

9  example, some states have negligence and some states have

10  negligence per se.  Are there differences like that

11  between the states?

12      A   Every state has their own little innuendos.

13  They have different statutes, different case law that

14  gives rise to certain things.

15      Q   Okay.  And as a claims consultant, in your

16  work, do you assess the coverage for the insureds?

17      A   Yes, I do.

18      Q   And do you assess the liability of an insured

19  or exposure damages for an insured?

20      A   Yes, I do.

21      Q   Okay.  And can you tell us what the

22  difference is between those assessments?

23      A   Well, you can have coverage for a loss of any

24  type, whether it's auto or general liability, whatever,

25  but you may not have liability.  Coverage means that
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1  you've entered into a contract that says we will defend

2  and indemnify you for certain things that are in the

3  contract, whether it's -- and the policies tells you what

4  those things are, and those are defined within the

5  policy.  Liability is did that insured or anybody acting

6  on their behalf breach any duty to another party.

7      Q   Okay.  So could there be a situation where

8  there's coverage for your insured but you evaluate that

9  there are no damages associated with a particular claim

10  being asserted against the insured?

11      A   Let's split that up.  I may have coverage for

12  the insured, but there's no liability.  You always get

13  damages presented, and that's the economic or

14  non-economic damages by the other party.  So let's just

15  think that out.

16      Q   So there could be coverage but not liability,

17  is what you're saying?

18      A   Correct.

19      Q   Now specifically, this case has to do with a

20  particular claim that you were handling for the

21  Hartford's insured, Ms. Sei.  Right?

22      A   Correct.

23      Q   Okay.  And so you were assigned to handle

24  Ms. Sei's matter as a claim consultant, right?

25      A   Correct.
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